

Feeding on pico-and nanoplankton by scleractinian corals from Okinawa

メタデータ	言語: en
	出版者: Shizuoka University
	公開日: 2020-11-18
	キーワード (Ja):
	キーワード (En):
	作成者: Sangmanee, Kanwara
	メールアドレス:
	所属:
URL	https://doi.org/10.14945/00027762

THESIS

Feeding on pico- and nanoplankton by scleractinian corals from Okinawa

June 2020

Shizuoka University

Graduate School of Science and Technology Educational Division Department of Environment and Energy Systems

SANGMANEE Kanwara

THESIS

Feeding on pico- and nanoplankton by scleractinian corals from Okinawa

沖縄の造礁サンゴによるピコ・ナノプランクトンの捕食

June 2020

Shizuoka University

Graduate School of Science and Technology Educational Division Department of Environment and Energy Systems

SANGMANEE Kanwara

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Beatriz E. Casareto for giving me the opportunity to conduct my Doctoral course at Shizuoka University. I am also very grateful to Prof. Yoshimi Suzuki for his valuable comments during my study. I deeply appreciate their valuable guidance and constant encouragement throughout the research.

I am very grateful to Assist. Prof. Toshiyuki Suzuki and Dr. The Duc Nguyen for giving me much knowledge for protein, glycerol, and glucose analysis. Also, I am very much grateful to Keita Toyoda for your help with laboratory measurements and Sunao Uehara for his help with field work and sample collection.

Also, I would like to express my deep gratitude to Asst. Prof. Thamasak Yeemin, Marine Biodiversity Research Group, Faculty of Science, Ramkhamhaeng University, Thailand for his valuable suggestions and encouragement.

I am grateful to post doctors Aussanee Meekaew and Laddawan Sangsawang for their suggestions, and all the members of the Marine Ecosystem and Biogeochemistry Laboratory, Shizuoka University for their helping.

This study was supported by the Environmental Leaders Program of Shizuoka University (ELSU) via a research promotion grant from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology (MEXT); a fiftieth anniversary grant from the Mitsubishi Corporation for the "Global Coral Reef Conservation Project (GCRCP)"; and a grant from the ENKEI foundation for fiscal year 2017. I thank the staff of Sesoko Station, Tropical Biosphere Research Center, University of the Ryukyus, Japan, for providing the facilities required for this experiment.

I am most grateful to all my friends in Japan and Thailand for all their helps and encouragement. Finally, I would like to thank my family for all supporting.

June 2020

SANGMANEE Kanwara

Contents
Acknowledgementiii
Contentsv
List of figures ix
List of tables xi
General abstract xiiii
Chapter 11
General introduction1
1.1 Coral reef ecosystem
1.2 Coral physiology2
1.2.1 Coral structure
1.2.2 Energy source of coral
1.3 Coral feeding strategies
1.4 Coral food source
1.4.1 Dissolved organic matter (DOM)7
1.4.2 Living particulate organic matter
1.4.3 Non – living particulate organic matter (Detrital)9
1.5 Pico- and nanoplankton 10
1.6 Coral bleaching 11
1.7 Aim and objective 12
1.8 Hypothesis 13

Contents

Chapter 2 17		
Coral feeding on pico- nanoplankton under normal versus thermal stress		
2.1 Abstract		
2.2 Introduction		
2.3 Materials and methods 22		
2.3.1 Corals sampling and experimental design		
2.3.1.1 Corals sampling and acclimatization		
2.3.1.2 Feeding experiment design 23		
2.3.2 Coral feeding experiment		
2.3.2.1 Preparation of seawater for incubation		
2.3.2.2 Coral feeding rates		
2.3.2.3 Enumeration of the pico- and nanoplankton and calculation of biomass		
from biovolumes		
2.3.3 Coral biological characteristics		
2.3.3.1 Polyp size and density 27		
2.3.3.2 Symbiodiniaceae density 27		
2.3.3.3 Protein concentration		
2.3.4 Statistical analysis		
2.4 Results		
2.4.1 Morphological and biological characteristics of Montipora digitata and		
Porites lutea before starting incubation		

2.4.2 Symbiodiniaceae and protein changes in coral tissue after incubation
2.4.3 Feeding rates
2.4.3.1 Cell capture and consumption rates
2.4.3.2 Assimilation of organic matter
2.5 Discussion
Chapter 3 51
Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) flux from <i>M. digitata</i> and <i>P. lutea</i>
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Methods 53
3.4 Results 54
3.5 Discussion
Chapter 4 61
Organic carbon acquisition from heterotrophy vs. respiration of
autotrophyc products (glucose and glycerol) 61
4.1 Abstract 61
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Materials and methods
4.3.1 Glycerol and glucose concentration from coral tissue
4.3.2 Estimation of organic carbon fluxes65

4.3.3 Statistical analysis	65
4.4 Results	66
4.4.1 Glycerol concentrations	66
4.4.2 Glucose concentrations	66
4.4.3 Net organic carbon flux from autotrophy and carbon acquisition from	
heterotrophy	67
4.5 Discussion	68
Chapter 5	75
General conclusions	75
5.1 Heterotrophic feeding of coral	75
5.2 New findings (research)	76
5.3 Future research	77
References	78
Appendix I	92
Appendix II	93
Appendix III	94
Appendix IV	95
Appendix V	96
Appendix VI	97

List of figures

Figure 1 Characteristic of coral and polyps 14
Figure 2 Characteristic of coral polyp and microorganism communities associated in
coral tissue
Figure 3 Coral nutrition of main 2 way (A: autotrophy and B: heterotrophy) 15
Figure 4 Cross section of corals to show the presence or absence of endolithic algae in
Porites lutea and Montipora digitata
Figure 5 Healthy and bleached coral nubbins used during incubation experiment 37
Figure 6 Incubation experiment design
Figure 7 Incubation system for coral feeding experiment
Figure 8 Tangential flow filtrated system and preparation of seawater for incubation
process
Figure 9 Character of pico- and nanoplankton groups under fluorescence microscope 41
Figure 10 Symbiodiniaceae densities of (a) <i>M. digitata</i> and (b) <i>P. lutea</i> before (initial)
and after 6 h incubation at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures 43
Figure 11 Total protein concentration of corals tissue: (a) M. digitata and (b) P. lutea
before (initial) and after 6 h incubation at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater
temperatures
Figure 12 Feeding rates of corals nubbins in number each group of cells (pico-
nanoplankton) consumed per mg protein (in coral tissue) per hour at 27 °C or 33 °C 45

Figure 13 Feeding rates of coral nubbins in total number of cells (pico- nanoplankton)
consumed per mg protein (in coral tissue) per hour in at 27 °C and 33 °C 46
Figure 14 Carbon assimilated of coral feeding by pico- and nanoplankton groups in ng
C per protein (in coral tissue) per hour of corals at 27 °C and 33 °C 47
Figure 15 Total ng carbon (A, B) and nitrogen (C, D) assimilated of corals feeding per
protein (in coral tissue) per hour (picoplankton + nanoplankton) at 27 °C and at 33 °C.
Figure 16 DOC concentration of seawater were collected before and after
6h incubation experiment 57
Figure 17 Flux of dissolved organic carbon (DOC; μ mol L ⁻¹) as the difference between
before and after incubation for healthy and bleached <i>M. digitata</i> and <i>P. lutea</i> nubbins at
normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures. Incubation time was 6 h 59
Figure 18 Correlations between total feeding rate and δDOC for (a) <i>M. digitata</i> and (b)
<i>P. lutea</i>
Figure 19 Glycerol concentrations (µg cm ⁻²) of (A) <i>M. digitata</i> and (B) <i>P. lutea</i> at initial
and after 6 h incubations
Figure 20 Glucose concentrations (µg cm ⁻²) of (A) <i>M. digitata</i> and (B) <i>P. lutea</i> at initial
and after 6 h incubations
Figure 21 Net fluxes of organic carbon from glycerol and glucose and organic carbon
acquisition from heterotrophy during 6 h incubations of (A) M. digitata and (B) P. lutea.
Data are mean \pm SD, n = 6 for each condition

List of tables

Table 1 Morphological and biological characteristics of healthy and bleached corals
before incubation (means ± SD)
Table2 C:N ratio of incorporated organic matter by Montipora digitata and Porites lutea
$(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD}, n = 3)$
Table 3 Total number of cells consumed, or organic carbon incorporated of <i>M. digitata</i>
and <i>P. lutea</i> per polyp or per cm2 of coral tissue
Table 4 Concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC; μ mol L ⁻¹) for the initial
seawater samples and those incubated (control or coral incubation), for healthy and
bleached corals at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures
Table 5 Net fluxes of organic carbon from glycerol and glucose and organic carbon
acquisition from heterotrophy (% of glycerol and/or glucose consumption) during 6 h
incubations of <i>M. digitata</i> and <i>P. lutea</i> at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater
temperatures74

General abstract

Coral reefs are complex ecosystems referred as the forest of the sea, maintaining a high biological diversity. They show high gross primary production rate that depends on a rapid nutrient recycling among reef organisms. In the reefs environment successful of corals is due to the efficient nutrients exchange among the coral host, its symbiotic algae, a dinoflagellate algae of the family Symbiodiniaceae, and the environment. The Symbiodiniaceae provide food for the corals by translocating photoassimilates (mainly glucose, glycerol, lipids and amino acids) supporting coral metabolisms and skeleton formation. However, as N is not substantially provided by the Symbiodiniaceae, corals need to feed on plankton to balance their diet by releasing mucus net, composed mainly by dissolved organic carbon (DOC), to trap suspended particles in the seawater. Under recent global warming scenario, the coral-symbiont relationship is strongly affected causing coral bleaching where the corals lose their Symbiodiniaceae (or their pigments) and concomitantly, a decrease in organic matter translocation which results in coral starvation. Therefore, an exogenous food source as plankton may play a crucial role in coral survival under environment stress and bleached conditions. The objective of this study was to understand the feeding strategies of two common scleractinian corals under healthy and bleached conditions. Moreover, the effect of thermal stress was also investigated for the two coral conditions. The study focused on their picoplankton and nanoplankton feeding efficiencies considering that these two plankton size fractions are the most abundant in the reef waters and therefore the most important sources of organic matter for scleractinian corals.

Firstly, I studied the feeding rate of healthy and bleached scleractinian corals, Montipora digitata (branching) and Porites lutea (massive), which are dominant in Okinawan reefs and have been subjected to recurring bleaching events. Coral nubbins were incubated for 6 h at normal (27 °C) and stressful (33 °C) seawater temperatures. They were supplied with a natural assemblage of picoplankton and nanoplankton sample near by the corals and concentrated via a tangential flow system. Densities of Bacteria (BA), picocyanobacteria (PCY), picoflagellates (PF), nanoflagellates (NF), and concentration of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) were monitored at the start and end of the incubations. Feeding rates were calculated in terms of cell consumption and converted to carbon units considering the carbon biomass of the different plankton groups. In addition, protein, glucose and glycerol concentrations and Symbiodiniaceae density in coral tissue were monitored. Results of feeding rates of healthy corals showed that *M. digitata* consumed from 87% (27 °C) to 72% (33 °C) more pico-nanoplankton cells and 94% or 70% more organic carbon than *P. lutea*. In terms of plankton preference and carbon incorporation, *M. digitata* consumed mainly NF as major carbon source and *P. lutea* consumed equally on all food items.

I also studied feeding rates of bleached corals and this represents the first study revealing feeding rates of bleached corals under a prolonged heat stress scenario. The combination of bleached condition and high seawater temperature was exercised in incubations to understand bleached coral's responses subjected to a prolonged thermal stress as commonly occurs nowadays in Okinawan reefs. Results showed that bleached and healthy *M. digitata* consumed almost the same amount of carbon, but under thermal stress carbon incorporation widely decreased in bleached corals. Despite the comparatively lower carbon incorporation under thermal stress, *M. digitata* incorporated ~50% more carbon than *P. lutea*. Bleached corals of the two species under thermal stress consumed almost the same amount of cells but *P. lutea* consumed mainly PCY

and PF, which provided relatively less organic matter source but with high C/N ratio. To understand possible changes in feeding strategies, I followed the dissolved organic matter (DOC) fluxes dynamics during incubations. A negative DOC flux in bleached *M. digitata* at 33 °C showed that *M. digitata* needed to uptake DOC from the surrounding seawater to compensate its metabolic coast, therefore decreased plankton capture was due to lack of mucus secretion. Conversely, *P. lutea* continued to release DOC even under the heat stress despite the lower feeding rate. Therefore, I concluded that in *P. lutea* mucus release could serve for another purpose besides plankton trapping. During my incubations, I measured concentrations of glycerol and glucose, calculated their fluxes (in terms of organic carbon) and compare with the incorporation of organic carbon from heterotrophy. Carbon acquisition from heterotrophy respect to dark respiration (consumption of glycerol and/or glucose) varied from 3% to 65% in *M. digitata* and from 7% to 68% in *P. lutea*.

As main conclusion in this research, *M. digitata* was highly dependent on heterotrophy and very efficient at food capture. Nevertheless, its plankton capture performance was substantially diminished by the combination of bleaching and heating. On the other hand, *P. lutea* was comparatively less dependent upon heterotrophy; it utilized organic matter translocated from its endolithic community to produce mucus and was able to maintain certain level of heterotrophy (~7% of dark consumption under thermal stress) with selection of higher C/N ratio food items. Therefore, this coral species is relatively more resistant to bleaching events even at elevated seawater temperatures. this study shows that *P. lutea* is relatively more tolerant to bleaching, having greater chances of survival and recovery. Therefore, this species is more likely to be able to colonize decimated coral reef ecosystems.

Chapter 1

General introduction

1.1 Coral reef ecosystem

Coral reefs are complex ecosystems offering a variety of microhabitats for the high diversity of organisms that inhabit them. Even coral reefs mostly develop in low nutrient seawaters, they maintain a high gross primary production. (Walker and Wood, 2005). This "coral reef paradox" is mainly the result of a rapid nutrient recycling between the coral host and its symbiotic algae, a dinoflagellate of the family Symbiodiniaceae (LaJeunesse et al., 2018). They are living within bodies of the tiny corals. The Symbiodiniaceae provide food in the form of carbohydrates mainly glucose and glycerol for the coral to support its metabolism including the calcification for skeleton formation (Lesser, 2004). The skeletons of corals display a high variety of geometrical shapes that offers refuges and spaces to support and protect the life of other organisms, therefore reefs are one of the most diverse communities in the word' sea. Coral reefs represent a significant source of food and livelihood for the people who live along the coastline (around tens of millions of people in over 100 countries worldwide) (van Oppen and Lough, 2009). They support major economic resources for surrounding countries, especially fishing and tourism. Furthermore, they also play a crucial role in stabilizing seashore and moderation of the word climate (Connell, 1978; Lesser, 2004).

1.2 Coral physiology

1.2.1 Coral structure

Corals are colonial organisms belonging to the phylum *Cnidaria*; the colony is form by the association of many polyps living together (Figure 1). All the polyps are connected by a thin sheet of tissue named coenosarc. The polyps are of cylinder shape displaying a very simple structure forming a sac with two layers, the ectoderm with stinging cells (the nematocysts) and mucus producing cells, and the endoderm that contains the symbiotic Symbiodiniaceae. Corals secrets an exoskeleton by a special tissue layer (the calicoblast) that is located on the base of the polyp. Corals grow by producing new polyps by asexual reproduction and secreting the underneath skeleton resulting in important calcium carbonate structures that protect and shape the reefs. Corals can also sexually reproduce by releasing gametes in the spawning season that may occur once or twice a year during full moon. The coral energy sources are provided mainly by the carbon reach materials that are translocated from their Symbiodiniaceae. Also, most of the corals can capture somehow big plankton using their tentacles that bear the singing cells (nematocysts) surrounding the polyp mouth (Figure 2), however the bacterioplankton seems to be the most important external food source that the corals trap by using mucus nets excreted by specialized cells of the ectoderm (Goldberg, 2018). The polyp size depends on the species (Castro and Huber, 2008). Some coral species live as a single polyp, solitary free-living as the mushroom coral (Family Fungiidae). Their polyps can extend up to 30 cm in diameter (Veron, 2000). However, most scleractinian coral species are colonial. Colonial coral polyps are much smaller <3mm in diameter. Polyp size of some coral species of the family *Poritidae* showed 0.50.7 mm in diameter (Veron, 2000). Coral colonies also vary in size. Some corals form only small colonies. Others may form colonies several meters.

The coral itself is not living alone but it lives in association with a variety or microorganisms that is named "coral holobiont" (Figure 2); (Bourne et al., 2009; Koren and Rosenberg, 2006). Associated microorganisms are virus, bacteria, archaea, fungus, endolithic community, and the unicellular algae Symbiodiniaceae (Sangsawang et al., 2017; Thompson et al., 2015). The Symbiodiniaceae are important microorganism for the coral since they provide up to 90% of the coral nutrition by translocation (Muscatine et al., 1981), (Figure 3). Among associate microorganism of coral, the endolithic community is another very important symbiotic entity in corals. Sangsawang et al., (2017) found that the endolithic are translocated carbon and nitrogen-rich compounds to the coral tissue of *Porites lutea* at both, healthy and bleached conditions (up to 8% of the total fixed carbon by endolithic in healthy corals and 6% in bleached corals). That may support the metabolic coast during bleaching events. In this thesis, I selected two different hermatypic corals: *P. lutea* possess endolithic community, however *M. digitata* does not normally associate with endoliths (Figure 4), and this pattern have important implications for the coral nutrition and survival strategy under stressful conditions.

1.2.2 Energy source of coral

Scleractinian corals obtain energy (organic matter) from two main sources: autotrophy and heterotrophy. Autotrophy represents the main source of organic matter (up to 90%) that is fixed by the symbiotic Symbiodiniaceae and translocated to the coral tissues (Grottoli et al., 2006; Muscatine et al., 1981), (Figure 4). Heterotrophy by which corals can obtain organic matter from the outer environment by consuming (feeding on) plankton, bacteriplankton, detritus and taking up dissolved organic matter (Baumann et al., 2014).

The coral host receive organic matter synthetized during photosynthesis by their symbiotic Symbiodiniaceae mainly glycerol, and glucose. Up to 70% of this organic matter is translocated from the Symbiodiniaceae to the host (Yellowlees et al., 2008; Tremblay et al., 2012; Tremblay et al., 2014). This organic matter is used by the coral host to drive physiological processes like respiration and calcification (Muscatine et al., 1981). In return, the Symbiodiniaceae receive a place to live and essential substrates, mainly carbon dioxide (CO₂) from coral respiration and ammonium (NH₄⁺), NO₃⁻ and PO₄⁻³ from coral waste release (Wooldridge, 2009; Goldberg 2018). Heterotrophic feeding seems to be important to most scleractinian corals, since it provides the corals with nitrogen, phosphorus, and other compounds that cannot be obtained from the translocation of Symbiodiniaceae (Godinot et al., 2011; Houlbrèque and Ferrier-Pagès, 2009; Sebens et al., 1996). The corals must supplement their autotrophic carbon-rich diets with nitrogen- and phosphorus-rich material (Palardy et al., 2006; Titlyanov et al., 2001). Therefore, corals feed on zooplankton using their tentacles to trap and transport the prey to the mouth and stomach (Labarbera, 1984; Palardy et al., 2006) suspended

particulate matter (Anthony and Fabricius, 2000) including bacterioplankton, phytoplankton, and detritus by trapping them using mucus nets (Borell et al., 2008; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2003; Sorokin, 1973) and dissolved organic matter (Al-Moghrabi et al., 1993; Suzuki and Casareto, 2011). The relative importance of heterotrophy versus autotrophy may vary according to certain conditions. Heterotrophic feeding serves to balance nitrogen and carbon at normal condition, but under environmental stressors as high sea surface temperature, corals bleach. In this process corals lose their Symbiodiniaceae (or their pigments) and, therefore, translocation decreases. Under this condition, heterotrophic feeding may have a more important role in providing corals with external organic matter to balance their metabolic needs (Borell et al., 2008).

1.3 Coral feeding strategies

From some time ago several coral species were categorized as carnivores (Ribes et al., 1998; Houlbrèque et al., 2004; Palardy et al., 2005;) since they can trap relatively big zooplankton. Actually, coral polyps expand their tentacles at night to trap their preys when the abundance of zooplankton increases due to the dial vertical migration (Houlbrèque and Ferrier-Pagès, 2009; Lasker, 1979). However, tiny plankton as bacteria, picocyanobacterial, flagellates (pico- and nano- sized) and small diatoms cannot be trapped using tentacles but only by means of mucus nets. This strategy is named suspension feeding. Corals can release a considerable amount of mucus, mainly in the form of DOM, which is then resorbed after being enriched with pico- and nanoplankton (Goldberg, 2018b; Lewis and Price, 1975; Naumann et al., 2009; Ribes et al., 2003), therefore this strategy may play a crucial role in coral feeding, particularly

for coral species with small polyp. At the same time, coral mucus contains nutrient rich compounds as proteins and triglycerides, that bacteria in the surrounding waters can use for their own growth (Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2000; Wild et al., 2004).

1.4 Coral food source

Most of the benthic organisms living in the reef lagoons are filter feeders or suspension feeders, therefore plankton and detritus may represent an important food source for the benthic community.

As explained before, corals can feed on zooplankton, phytoplankton and bacterioplankton. Zooplankton in reef lagoons are mainly represented by benthic copepods and amphipods and some other crustaceans, ciliates and larvae of benthic organisms, however those corals with small polyps may not be able to trap big size items. Phytoplankton is rather scarce in the reef lagoons due to low nutrients availability (Sorokin, 1973). Recently the importance of pico- and nanoplankton in reef waters were studied by several researchers confirming that pico and nano sized plankton represents the most important biomass fraction in the lagoon waters (Casareto et al., 2000; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2000; Lefebvre et al., 2012). More recently studies had shown that corals may take up dissolved organic matter including urea and dissolved free amino acids (DFAA) (Houlbrèque and Ferrier-Pagès, 2009 and references in there).

1.4.1 Dissolved organic matter (DOM)

Dissolved organic matter (DOM, <0.2) represents largest stock of organic material on earth. It is used by coral reef creatures. Normally DOM is mostly produced from benthic reef organisms and utilize by bacteria from their growth. (Carlson and Hansell, 2014; Martias et al., 2018). Corals are the major benthic of producer DOM in coral reef (Tanaka et al., 2008). Corals release DOM as a mucus into the seawater which are the major mechanism for trap and ingestion of small food particle like a plankton as pico and nano size (Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2000; Muscatine, 1973). Coral release mucus and reingest their exudate by gliding mucus with pico- and nanoplankton associated toward the mouth (Goldberg, 2018) to balance organic matter (carbon and nitrogen). However, mucus release differ depend on coral species or environmental (Goldberg, 2018; Naumann et al., 2010; Tanaka et al., 2009). Mucus production rate of corals were decrease along bleaching events (Glynn et al., 1985). This reflection is likely showing the lack of nutrient content in coral tissue reserves. Yamashiro et al., (2005) found that, lipid composition of coral tissues which are the one composition of coral mucus, were decrease in bleached Okinawa corals, typically the branching corals indicating that. Therefore, when the corals were under stress condition as elevated seawater temperature or bleached, they will produce more mucus to support heterotrophic mode of nutrition, however, in the other case, corals decrease produced mucus and/or uptake more DOM from surrounding seawater than they release to compensated organic carbon and nitrogen in coral tissue. This suggest that dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen may an important source for coral (Suzuki and Casareto, 2011).

1.4.2 Living particulate organic matter

The most important living biomass in the reefs waters in the form of particulate organic matter is pico- and nanoplankton (Casareto et al., 2000). In previous years, the study of these tinny organisms was not performed in detail due to the lack of an appropriate methodology, therefore scientists did not consider these planktonic fractions to have important role for the coral food. However, after the development of flow cytometers and advanced fluorescent microscopes, scientist understood that the small plankton (smaller than 3 μ m) are dominant in the reef lagoons. Bacteria, picocyanobacteria (mainly of the genus *Synechococcus* and *Prochlorococcus*), and picoeukaryotes are generally in higher abundance in the lagoons than in the open ocean. They can contribute up to 65% or the organic carbon produced by planktonic community in the reefs (Casareto et al., 2006). However, pico-nanoplankton concentration can notably decrease near the reef crest where corals are concentrated, indicating a pattern of plankton depletion by coral feeding (Casareto et al., 2000, 2006).

Following these concepts, I focused my study in the pico- nano sized plankton fraction, taking into account that this fraction should be the most important food source for scleractinian corals.

1.4.3 Non – living particulate organic matter (Detrital)

Bacteria, exudation from microbes, protozoans, interstitial invertebrates, microalgae and dead organic matter (detritus) are present in the surface sediments and in suspension in the waters of coral reefs (Houlbrèque and Ferrier-Pagès, 2009). All of these items are potential food sources for corals. Many studies showed that corals are also able to feed on particles trapped in the sediment that can be re-suspended in the water column by convection or tidal currents (Anthony, 1999; Anthony and Fabricius, 2000). *Pocillopora damicornis* and *Acropora millepora* consumed organic matter from the sediment and their consumption rates were in a linear function with sediment load, with an assimilation efficiency of 50-80% (Anthony, 2000). Rosenfeld et al., (1999) found that *Fungia horrida* consumed detritus from sediment during experiments using labeled sediment. *Acropora millepora, Siderastrea radians, Montastrea franksi, Diploria strigose* were also found they were uptake suspended detrital particulate matter (Anthony, 2000; Mills et al., 2004b).

The study of coral feeding on detritus requires field measurements and in situ incubations with a longer time scale, therefore this food source was not considered in the present study.

1.5 Pico- and nanoplankton

In coral reef environments, pico-plankton (0.2-2 µm) and nano-plankton (2-20 µm) are the most important components of the particulate of organic matter (Casareto et al., 2000; Charpy and Charpy-Roubaud, 1991). Despite they are of small size compare to other planktonic groups, the have significant implications in the export of organic carbon and nitrogen via consumption by higher trophic level organisms (Ribeiro et al., 2016; Richardson and Jackson, 2007) and export to open ocean via tidal currents. Picoand nanoplankton includes bacteria, cyanobacteria, flagellates and ciliates (Ferrier-Pagès and Gattuso, 1998; Sorokin, 1991, 1973). Pico- and nanoplankton are the smallest organisms that corals generally consume, as the most abundant particles that are freeliving in the water column (Ferrier-Pagès and Gattuso, 1998; Houlbrèque et al., 2004). To build a new tissue, the corals must supplement their phototrophically carbon-rich diets with nitrogen- and phosphorus-rich material (Palardy et al., 2006; Titlyanov et al., 2001). Therefore, corals feed heterotrophically on suspended particulate matter (Anthony and Fabricius, 2000). Few reports were published about coral feeding on picoand nanoplankton (e.g. Houlbrèque et al., 2004; Picciano and Ferrier-Pagès, 2007; Sorokin, 1973; Tremblay et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2012), however there is no available data on changes of feeding requirements when the corals are subjected to environmental stressor as high seawater temperature, high UV radiation, high nutrient stress, and other derived from climate changes and human impacted reefs.

1.6 Coral bleaching

Coral bleaching is the most impacting response of scleractinian corals to environmental stresses as elevated seawater temperature and high irradiance. These stresses increased in frequency and widespread on coral reef over the last 20 years (Coles and Brown, 2003; Zhou et al., 2017). During corals bleaching events Symbiodiniaceae in coral tissues was changed morphologically and lost pigmentation (Kuroki and van Woesik, 1999; Suzuki et al., 2015; Yamashiro et al., 2005). Diverse forms of Symbiodiniaceae were observed in tissues of naturally bleached coral during summer (Mise and Hidaka, 2003; Reimer et al., 2007; Suzuki et al., 2015) Thermal stress inflicts damage in chloroplast thylakoid membrane structures by altering their lipid composition (Tchernov et al., 2004) and inducing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS; Smith et al., 2005), which ultimately destroys chloroplast organization (Salih et al., 1998). Moreover, thermal stress in combination with high light stress may accelerate bleaching. Darkness have also negative effect promoting degradation of the Symbiodiniaceae photosynthetic system (Suwa and Hidaka, 2006).

Under bleaching conditions the photosynthetic activity of Symbiodiniaceae can be greatly reduced (Warner et al., 2002), the energetic and nutritional balance of the symbiotic association may become disrupted, potentially rendering the coral host into a state of starvation, which can lead to changes in biochemical composition and reduced energetic status of the colony (Fitt et al., 1993; Grottoli et al., 2004; Yamashiro et al., 2005). Heterotrophy is a primary source of nitrogen and phosphorus in reef environments (Houlbrèque and Ferrier-Pagès, 2009) and can help corals to overcome starvation under bleaching (Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2010; Grottoli et al., 2006; Tremblay et

al., 2014). The importance of heterotrophy showed be evaluate under those stressful conditions which are now a day highly impacting word coral reef.

1.7 Aim and objective

The goal of the present study was to understand the feeding strategies of two important dominant coral species in the Okinawan reef, namely, the branching *Montipora digitata* and the massive *Porites lutea*. It is already known that heterotrophy is of crucial importance for recovery from bleaching event (Grottoli et al., 2006). I thought to study heterotrophy under normal versus stressful condition of high seawater temperature, bleached conditions and the combination of these stresses. Moreover, there are no data on coral heterotrophy for this region. I focused our study on pico-nanoplankton feeding efficiency since these are the main organic matter sources for scleractinian corals. I attempted to answer the following questions:

- 1. What are the feeding rates, prey preferences, and organic matter assimilation efficiencies of these coral species? I also would like to know if the difference of their polyp size influences feeding efficiency.
- 2. How much feeding efficiency changes when bleached corals are exposed to extended thermal stress in Okinawan shallows lagoons?
- 3. In order to understand patterns of dark respiration during our experiment, I measured fluxes of the two main autotrophic products, glycerol and glucose and I compared these values with the amount of organic carbon assimilated by heterotrophy in order to infer how the energy allocation varied under the tested conditions and treatments during our experiments.

1.8 Hypothesis

- M. digitata and P. lutea would show different heterotrophic requirements and strategies due to the differences in their polyp size and density, including the effects of endolithic communities in P. lutea could widely influence the feeding behavior of this coral.
- 2. The feeding rates of bleached corals under thermal stress conditions will be highly reduced due to the combination of these two conditions.

To test these questions and hypothesis incubation experiments were used.



Figure 1 Characteristic of coral and polyps



Figure 2 Characteristic of coral polyp and microorganism communities associated in coral tissue



Figure 3 Coral nutrition of main 2 way (A: autotrophy and B: heterotrophy).

Endolithic algae



Cross section of a Porites lutea colony



Cross section of a Montipora digitata colony branch

Figure 4 Cross section of corals to show the presence or absence of endolithic algae in *Porites lutea* and *Montipora digitata*

Chapter 2

Coral feeding on pico- nanoplankton under normal versus thermal stress

2.1 Abstract

This study I would like to understand the feeding strategies of healthy and bleached corals under normal and high seawater temperatures. Branching Montipora digitata and massive Porites lutea were used for these researches. Both coral species are dominant in Okinawan reefs and have been subjected to recurring bleaching events. This study shows for the first-time exercised in our incubations to understand coral responses under combined stresses that commonly occur nowadays in Okinawan reefs. Feeding efficiencies were focused on their picoplankton and nanoplankton feeding efficiencies. These are the most important sources of organic matter for scleractinian corals. Healthy and bleached coral nubbins were incubated for 6 h at normal (27 °C) and thermal (33 °C) seawater temperatures. They were supplied with a natural assemblage of picoplankton and nanoplankton concentrated via a tangential flow system. Bacteria (BA), picocyanobacteria (PCY), picoflagellates (PF), nanoflagellates (NF), were monitored at the start and end of the incubations. Results showed that, healthy M. digitata at 27 °C and 33 °C more consumed pico-, and nanoplankton cells 87% and 72% and more incorporated organic carbon 94% or 70% than P. lutea. In terms of plankton preference and carbon incorporation, M. digitata and P. lutea consumed mainly NF as major carbon source, which was its major carbon source. In contrast, P. lutea consumed only PCY and PF, which provided relatively less carbon. When compared with bleached corals nubbins, I found that bleached and healthy *M. digitata* consumed almost the same amount of carbon at normal seawater temperature, but under thermal stress carbon incorporation widely decreased in bleached corals. Despite the comparatively lower carbon incorporation under combined stresses, *M. digitata* incorporated ~50% more carbon than *P. lutea*. Under combined stresses, both coral species consumed almost the similar number of pico- and nanoplankton cells but *P. lutea* consumed mainly PCY and PF, which provided relatively less carbon but represents a comparatively high C/N food source. While *M. digitata* consumed mainly BA and NF which are important organic food sauce typically from NF. The study indicated that, the feeding strategies were difference between both coral species to over come the environmental stress.

2.2 Introduction

Reef-building corals live in symbiotic relationships with Symbiodiniaceae and other microorganisms. Collectively, these consortia form so-called 'coral holobionts' (Bourne et al., 2009; Koren and Rosenberg, 2006; Sangsawang et al., 2017; Thompson et al., 2015). Autotrophy is the main source of organic matter (up to 90%) for Scleractinian corals. It is translocated to the coral host from their Symbiodiniaceae (Baumann et al., 2014; Muscatine et al., 1981) in the form of sugars, glycerol, and amino acids (Tremblay et al., 2014). To build a new tissue, however, the corals must supplement their phototrophically carbon-rich diets with nitrogen- and phosphorus-rich material (Palardy et al., 2006; Titlyanov et al., 2001). Therefore, corals feed heterotrophically on suspended particulate matter (Anthony and Fabricius, 2000) including bacterioplankton, phytoplankton, zooplankton, detritus (Borell et al., 2008; Ferrier-Pagès et al., 2003; Sorokin, 1973). The relative importance of heterotrophy vs. autotrophy may vary according to certain conditions. Baumann et al. (2014) showed that shaded corals obtain >60% of their energy requirements from heterotrophic feeding. For most scleractinian corals, picoplankton and nanoplankton are the most important food sources. Corals trap them by secreting mucus nets, which are then resorbed after being enriched with pico and nanoplankton (Goldberg, 2018). Sorokin (1973) was the first to use labelled bacteria to study coral feeding on bacterioplankton. A study by Houlbrèque et al. (2004) showed that the Symbiodiniaceae coral Tubastrea aurea fed on bacteria, picocyanobacteria, picoflagellates, nanoflagellates. and In the contrast, Symbiodiniaceae corals Galaxea fascicularis and Stylophora pistillata fed mainly on nanoflagellates (80% and 50% of the total ingested carbon and nitrogen, respectively)

whereas bacteria, picocyanobacteria, and picoflagellates contributed only 1-7% of their ingested carbon. Picciano and Ferrier-Pagès (2007) found that the red coral *Corallium rubrum* preyed upon both pico- and nanoplankton, and flagellates constituted their major food source (43-70% of their C and N intake). Wang et al. (2012) showed that the picoplankton capture efficiency of *Stylophora pistillata* was greater than that of *Montipora stellata*. This difference was attributed to the fact that their polyp sizes are dissimilar. The preceding studies provided important information about the organic matter and food, which coral incorporate by heterotrophy when they are not under environmental stress.

At normal environment, Scleractinian corals are almost receive energy photosynthetic products (e.g. sugar and amino acid) from Symbiodiniaceae which are located in their tissue as a main energy source. Recent environmental changes include elevated sea surface temperatures and solar irradiance (Lesser et al., 1990; Lesser and Farrell, 2004) along with diminishing water quality from human impact such as nutrients input (Fabricius, 2005; Møller et al., 2014), contamination from microplastic (Moore, 2008), metal pollution (Prouty et al., 2013). These factors have increased the incidence and severity of coral bleaching worldwide (Coles and Brown, 2003). Bleached corals lose their endosymbiotic Symbiodiniaceae and/or pigments (Baumann et al., 2014; D'Croz et al., 2001; Glynn, 1996; Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999; Suzuki et al., 2015). Therefore, relatively less organic matter is translocated to them. Consequently, their metabolic energy levels decline, their physiology is altered, and their survivorship decreases. Symptoms of coral bleaching include a reduction in calcification (e.g. (Leder et al., 1991; Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2007; Schoepf et al., 2015b), and enhanced

heterotrophy (Grottoli et al., 2006). The several studied almost done coral feeding on pico- and nanoplankton in under normal environment (Houlbrèque et al., 2004; Picciano and Ferrier-Pagès, 2007; Sorokin, 1973; Tremblay et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2012). Tremblay et al., (2011) showed that the temperate Mediterranean coral *Cladocora caespitosa* had highly heterogeneous feeding (0.2-200 µm cell diameter) and could survive by heterotrophy alone. However, this is first time for study coral feeding combine stress (bleaching and high seawater temperature) Recurring coral bleaching events were recently observed in the Okinawan coral reefs. They have affected even the most dominant coral species there.

The goal of the present study was to compare feeding rate of healthy and bleached coral between branching corals (*Montipora digitata*) and massive corals (*Porites lutea*) which are dominant coral species in the Okinawan reef. To investigate feeding of healthy and bleached corals under thermal stress. However, there are no data on coral heterotrophy for this region. We focused our study on pico-nanoplankton feeding efficiency since these are the main organic matter sources for scleractinian corals. How does bleaching affect coral feeding rates? How do these two-coral species differ in terms of their feeding strategies? How does thermal stress influence feeding efficiency in bleached coral?
2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Corals sampling and experimental design

2.3.1.1 Corals sampling and acclimatization

The scleractinian corals Montipora digitata and Porites lutea were sampled at Sesoko Reef, Okinawa, Japan (26°39' N, 127°51' E) at low tide (depth 0.5-1 m) during the summer season of 2017. Seawater temperature in the Sesoko reef lagoon varied from 30.1 °C to 32.2 °C (Multiparameter Mini Sonde, OTT, Hydrolab MS5, Ireland) during the sampling period (September 2017 from 12:00 to 16:00), conducted at the low ebb of a spring tide. During September 2017, the degree of heating weeks (DHW) was 13 °C week and the bleaching threshold was 29.5 °C (NOAA Coral Reef Watch Virtual Station in Northern Ryukyu Island, Japan). Coral sampling was conducted under Permit No. 28-75, which was obtained from the Okinawa Prefectural Government. Three mother colonies of healthy M. digitata were sampled and divided into three branches each (3 cm long). The same sampling procedure was followed for bleached M. digitata from three mother colonies. Healthy fragments of *P. lutea* were obtained from three mother colonies and bleached fragments from other three colonies (Figure 5). Three fragments of 3 cm² were obtained from each. Some extra fragments from the same colonies were also taken for measurements of biological parameters and symbiont density. Bleached conditions for the two coral species were determined on the bases of Coral Watch Coral Health Chart; http://interpreter.ne.jp/umibe/. An incubation experiment was designed to test feeding rates of these two coral species. The experiment covered three steps as follows: acclimatization after sampling (nine days for fragments exposed to normal temperature and three days for fragments exposed to thermal stress); temperature ramp-up (six days for only fragments exposed to thermal

stress); and a feeding experiment (6 h). The initial time corresponds to the 0 h of the feeding incubation experiment. For acclimatization, coral fragments were attached to a polyethylene net in an aquarium with natural running seawater (flowrate of 10 mL min⁻¹), with temperature that fluctuated between 26.8 °C and 27.4 °C, and attenuated natural illumination with maximum 280 μ mol cm⁻² sec⁻¹. Coral polyps were active and showed expanded tentacles at night after the 3 days acclimatization period. After this period, some of the healthy and bleached fragments were transferred to other aquaria, where the seawater temperature was gradually increased at a rate of 1 °C per day until it reached 33 °C (temperature ramp-up). Subsequently, the feeding experiment (described in section 2.3.1.2) was performed in dark conditions to enhance heterotrophic feeding by synchronizing the starting time with the dark period during acclimatization.

2.3.1.2 Feeding experiment design

After acclimatization and temperature ramp-up period (for those fragments exposed to 33 °C), healthy and bleached coral fragments of the two species were incubated in 800-mL glass bottles with a closed running seawater system flowing through at 6 mL min⁻¹. One coral fragment per bottle was set up in the center of the bottle using a polyethylene net. To enhance water movement, stirrers were placed in each bottle. The seawater temperature was set to 27 °C or 33 °C. Both coral species were tested in a 2×2 factorial design (two temperatures (27 °C or 33 °C) and two coral conditions (healthy or bleached) with three replicates per treatment. Controls (incubation bottles with only seawater) were also set up (three replicates per each treatment) to estimate natural planktonic variations (Figure 6 and 7). Thirty incubation bottles (I) were kept in a water bath at normal seawater temperature (27 °C; 15 bottles) and higher seawater

temperature (33 °C; 15 bottles) for 6 h. Temperatures were maintained using thermostats with heaters and coolers set up in the incubation system; monitoring and continuous recording was carried out with in situ sensors (MDS-MkV/T, Alec Electronics, Kobe, Japan).

2.3.2 Coral feeding experiment

2.3.2.1 Preparation of seawater for incubation

Seawater was sampled from the same sites where the corals were collected before starting the incubation. The seawater was pre-filtered with a 100-µm plankton net to remove microplankton. Pico-nanoplankton were concentrated with a tangential flow filtration system (Vivaflow 50 Crossflow Cassettes, 100K MWCO RC; membrane pore diameter 0.2 µm; Sartorius AG, Göttingen, Germany) to minimize cell damage (Figure 8). Plankton concentration was done to improve efficiency in the measurement of feeding rates in short time. The cell concentration ranges were $5.4 - 10.0 \times 10^5$ cells mL⁻¹ in the natural seawater and $27.3 - 54.5 \times 10^5$ cells mL⁻¹ in the concentrated seawater.

2.3.2.2 Coral feeding rates

The pico- and nanoplankton including bacteria (BA), picocyanobacteria (PCY), picoflagellates (PF), and nanoflagellates (NF), in the running seawater were measured and recorded before and after the 6 h incubation periods under a fluorescence microscope for each incubation condition (Figure 9). The feeding rates were calculated according to Ribes et al. (1998), Frost (1972) and Houlbrèque et al. (2004)[.] Plankton feeding rates were determined according to plankton growth rates in the control and coral chambers. Briefly, these equations are as follows:

k is the growth rate of the pico- and nanoplankton (h^{-1}) was calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{k} = \ln(\mathbf{C}_t / \mathbf{C}_0) / \mathbf{T}_t - \mathbf{T}_0 \tag{1}$$

where

 C_0 is the pico- nanoplankton concentration in the chambers (cells mL⁻¹) at the initial time (T₀)

 C_t is the pico- nanoplankton concentration in the chambers (cells $mL^{-1})$ at the final time (T_t)

g is the feeding coefficient (h^{-1}) was calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{k}_{\rm c} - \mathbf{k}_{\rm g} \tag{2}$$

where

 $k_{c}\ is\ the\ growth\ rate\ of\ the\ pico-\ and\ nanoplankton\ in\ the\ control\ chamber\ (h^{-1})$

 k_g is the growth rate of the pico- and nanoplankton in the coral chamber (h^{-1})

F is the feeding rate (cells h^{-1}) was calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{g} / \mathbf{N} \tag{3}$$

where

V is volume of seawater in the chamber (mL)

g is the feeding coefficient (h^{-1})

N is the final concentration of pico- nanoplankton in the chamber

C is the average prey concentration (cells mL⁻¹) during the experiment was calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{C} = C_0 [e^{(k-g)(T_t - T_0)} - 1] / (k-g) (T_t - T_0)$$
(4)

I is the Feeding rate (prey ingested mg^{-1} protein h^{-1}) was calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{I} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{C} \tag{5}$$

The feeding rates were normalized by the branch surface area or by the protein concentration in coral tissues.

2.3.2.3 Enumeration of the pico- and nanoplankton and calculation of biomass from biovolumes

To enumerate pico- and nanoplankton, samples were transferred from the incubation chambers into sterile 50-mL tubes, fixed with 25 % w/v glutaraldehyde (1 % final concentration) and kept at 4 °C until analysis. For BA, PCY, PF, and NF, the samples were stained with DAPI (4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) (Porter and Feig, 1980). The 3 mL aliquots of each of these samples were filtered through 0.2-µm black polycarbonate filters to count BA and PCY. Then, 30 mL aliquots were filtered through 0.8-µm black polycarbonate filters to count PF and NF. The filters were mounted onto glass slides and the cells were enumerated under an epifluorescence microscope (Eclipse/E600; Nikon Corp., Tokyo, Japan). Approximately 10–15 fields per sample were counted. The biomasses of the various pico- and nanoplankton groups were calculated from the biovolume to biomass relationships. The average cell dimensions of the picoplankton

and nanoplankton were measured from >30 cells per group. Biovolumes were determined from the average cell dimensions assuming the most similar geometrical shape according to the method of Sun and Liu, (2003). Carbon biomasses were calculated using the biovolume to biomass conversion factors and nitrogen using C/N ratio as BA = 30.2 fg C cell⁻¹ and 5.8 fg N cell⁻¹ (Fukuda et al., 1998), PCY = 700 fg C μ m⁻³ and 50 fg N μ m⁻³ and PF or NF = 220 fg C μ m⁻³ and 26 fg N μ m⁻³ (Houlbrèque et al., 2004 and references in there). C/N ratio of each of the plankton groups were calculated according to Fukuda et al., (1998) for bacteria and Houlbrèque et al., (2004) and references in their for other pico- and nanoplankton groups.

2.3.3 Coral biological characteristics

2.3.3.1 Polyp size and density

Polyps' diameters were measured under a stereomicroscope (C-DSS115, Nikon Corp., Tokyo, Japan). The averages of 30-40 measurements were recorded. Polyp density was determined from polyp counts within an area of 1 cm².

2.3.3.2 Symbiodiniaceae density

Coral tissues were separated from the skeleton using a Waterpik[®] (Ricoh Elemex Corporation, Aichi, Japan) filled with 3.5% w/v NaCl solution (Johanes and Wiebe, 1970). The extracted tissues were homogenized with a glass homogenizer and centrifuged at 3,000g for 15 min. The supernatants were removed, and Symbiodiniaceae pellets were resuspended in the 3.5% w/v NaCl solution. This procedure was repeated three times to remove remaining coral tissue. Symbiodiniaceae were counted with a

Neubauer-line haemocytometer (Erma Inc., Tokyo, Japan) under an ECLIPSE 80i microscope (Nikon Corp., Tokyo, Japan). The data were normalized to the coral surface area (cm²). The surface areas of the coral nubbins were determined by the aluminium foil method (Marsh, 1970).

2.3.3.3 Protein concentration

A small portion of coral fragments of about 1 cm² were grounded in a mortar containing 2 mL of 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer at pH 7.5, then centrifuged at 10,000*g* for 3 min to remove skeleton and insoluble components including broken membranes from Symbiodiniaceae cells. Protein content in the supernatant was determined by the method of Palmer et al. (Palmer et al., 2009); triplicate 25-µL supernatant aliquots were loaded into 96-well microtiter plates and quantified with a PierceTM BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) by measurement absorbance at 562 nm with a multi-detection microplate reader (BioTek Synergy HT; BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). The concentrations were normalized to the surface area of the coral pieces.

2.3.4 Statistical analysis

Data were checked for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test; square root transformation was performed when data were not normally distributed. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test significant differences between coral conditions, two-way ANOVA was used to test significant differences between seawater temperature (normal 27 °C vs. high 33 °C; two levels) and coral conditions (healthy vs.

bleached; two levels), and three-way ANOVA was used to identify differences among coral conditions, temperature treatments, and time (0 h vs. 6 h incubation). Pairwise comparisons with post hoc Tukey's test were used to test level of significant differences (p < 0.001, p < 0.01, and p < 0.05). A p value < 0.05 was considered significant. Minitab v. 14 (Minitab Inc., State College, PA, USA) was used for all statistical analyses.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Morphological and biological characteristics of *Montipora digitata* and *Porites lutea* before starting incubation

The initial (before starting the feeding experiment, 0 h) morphological and biological characteristics of the healthy and bleached *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* colonies and their symbiotic Symbiodiniaceae are shown in Table 1. In comparison with *M. digitata*, the polyps of *P. lutea* were twice as large, with concomitantly lower density. The protein concentrations in healthy and bleached of *P. lutea* were 2.24 mg cm⁻² and 1.55 mg cm⁻² respectively; these were 5 and 4.4 times higher than in healthy and bleached of *M. digitata*, respectively. Symbiodiniaceae densities in *P. lutea* were also higher densities than in *M. digitata* with 3.5 times in healthy to 3.8 times in bleached.

2.4.2 Symbiodiniaceae and protein changes in coral tissue after incubation

Changes in the Symbiodiniaceae densities during incubation are shown in Figure 10. The Symbiodiniaceae densities in the healthy *M. digitata* increased after 6 h incubations at 27 °C and 33 °C; the increase at 33 °C was greater than that at 27 °C, but not in a statistically significant manner. The Symbiodiniaceae densities for healthy *P. lutea* varied among the treatments, but not to a statistically significant level. In bleached nubbins, Symbiodiniaceae cells had similar at the initially and after incubation at both 27 °C and 33 °C. For the bleached *P. lutea* nubbins, the Symbiodiniaceae density substantially but non-significantly decreased at 33 °C relative to the initial and 27 °C values.

The total protein concentration (mg cm⁻²) in healthy *P. lutea* nubbins was higher than that of healthy *M. digitata* (p < 0.01) (Figure 10). In healthy *M. digitata* nubbins, the protein content slightly increased at 27 °C and slightly decreased at 33 °C relative to the initial value. It did not significantly vary among conditions and treatments. For bleached nubbins, *P. lutea* was higher protein concentration than that of *M. digitata* (p < 0.01) (Figure 18). Bleached *M. digitata* were no significant variations in protein concentration among conditions and treatments. For bleached *P. lutea*, the protein concentration was slightly lower in bleached nubbins at 27 °C and 27% lower in the bleached nubbins at 33 °C than the initial value and were not significant different (Figure 11).

2.4.3 Feeding rates

2.4.3.1 Cell capture and consumption rates

The feeding rates on different groups of pico-nanoplankton (cells per coral tissue protein per hour) are shown in Figure 12. Healthy *Montipora digitata* in normal seawater temperature (27 °C) preferentially consumed NF, followed by PCY and BA. Bleached fragments showed a greater preference for BA than healthy fragments (p < 0.01), followed by NF. In the seawater in which bleached corals were incubated, the PCY and PF concentrations increased (negative values), indicating that the rate of consumption by coral was lower than that of plankton growth (Figure 12A). At 33 °C, the healthy nubbins consumed significantly more BA and NF than the bleached fragments (p < 0.01), while the bleached nubbins consumed relatively more PCY than the healthy fragments (Figure 12C). At 27 °C, *Porites lutea* consumed all food sources provided; consumption rates of bleached corals were higher than those of healthy corals (Figure 12B). At 33 °C, both healthy and bleached *P. lutea* consumed food sources in similar quantities, although both of the health conditions preferred PCY (Figure 12D).

Total feeding rates (number of pico-nanoplankton cells) are shown in Figure 13. Higher feeding rates were found in *M. digitata* than in *P. lutea* in all treatments except the bleached fragments at 33 °C, which displayed similar feeding rates. Higher feeding rates were observed at 27 °C in bleached fragments than the healthy ones (42% higher in *M. digitata* and 72% higher in *P. lutea*; p < 0.01). In comparison, feeding rates of bleached fragments were lower at 33 °C than those of healthy fragments (79% and 48% for *M. digitata* and *P. lutea*, respectively). Healthy corals showed significantly higher (p < 0.01) feeding rates at 33 °C than at 27 °C, while bleached corals showed higher

feeding rates at 27 °C than at 33 °C in both coral species (p < 0.001 in *M. digitata*), but this difference was not significant in the case of *P. lutea*.

Table 3 shows the feeding rates of healthy and bleached corals in number of cells consumed per polyp or per cm² coral surface. At 27 °C, these feeding rates were higher in healthy *M. digitata* than healthy *P. lutea*. However, *M. digitata* incorporated more carbon cm⁻² than *P. lutea*. At 33 °C, the cell capture rate per healthy nubbin polyp was non-significantly higher in *P. lutea* than it was in *M. digitata*. In terms of cell capture and carbon incorporation per unit surface area, the values for healthy *M. digitata* were substantially higher than those for healthy *P. lutea*. For bleached nubbins, *P. lutea* feeding rates were higher at 27 °C and 33°C than *M. digitata*. Nevertheless, the feeding rates were similar for the bleached nubbins of both species.

2.4.3.2 Assimilation of organic matter

Assimilation of organic carbon (ng C mg⁻¹ protein h⁻¹) are shown in Figure 14. The most important organic carbon source under all conditions for both coral species was NF, with the exception of bleached *P. lutea* at 33 °C, for which PCY was the most important carbon source. In particular, bleached *M. digitata* incorporated significantly (p < 0.01) more carbon from NF than their healthy counterparts under a normal temperature; conversely, healthy corals incorporated more carbon from NF than the bleached ones at 33 °C (p < 0.001). Bleached *P. lutea* corals incorporated more carbon than the healthy ones from all available food sources at 27 °C. Consumption of BA did not significantly contribute to the incorporation of organic carbon in either coral species.

The total organic carbon and nitrogen assimilated are shown in Figure 15. Carbon assimilated by M. digitata was higher than that assimilated by P. lutea. At 27 °C, healthy M. digitata incorporated 94% more C and N than the healthy P. lutea, and the bleached nubbins incorporated 71% and 76% more C and N, respectively, than P. lutea. At 33 °C, healthy M. digitata incorporated more organic C and N (~70% and 76%, respectively) than healthy P. lutea. Despite the comparatively lower C and N incorporation by the bleached nubbins, *M. digitata* incorporated \sim 50% and \sim 63% more C and N, respectively, than P. lutea under thermal stress. Under thermal stress (33 °C), healthy *M. digitata* assimilated three times more C (p < 0.001) and N (p < 0.01) than bleached. At normal temperature (27 °C), C and N assimilation were higher in the bleached nubbins compared with the healthy ones, but not statistically different. For P. lutea, the patterns were similar, except the differences between treatments and conditions were not statistically significant. The C/N ratios reflected the coral feeding preferences under each condition: under thermal stress, healthy M. digitata only consumed NF, and thereby represents a comparatively low C/N ratio; however, bleached nubbins under thermal stress consumed low amounts of food but also incorporated PCY, which represents a comparatively high C/N food source (Table 2). Under thermal stress, bleached P. lutea consumed mainly PCY, which are characterized by a relatively high C/N ratio. Therefore, both corals under bleached conditions and thermal stress preferred higher C/N-ratio foods to overcome the decrease in carbon-rich resources from translocation.

Table 3 shows the feeding rates of healthy and bleached corals in term of carbon assimilation per polyp or per cm² coral surface. Healthy *P. lutea* incorporated more cells than *M. digitata*. Whileas that, bleached *M. digitata* incorporated more carbon cm⁻² than

bleached *P. lutea*. Even if *P. lutea* incorporated more cells than *M. digitata*, but the latter incorporated more carbon than the former when normalized carbon per cm per h. These results reflect the shift in food preferences from nanoplankton to picoplankton for *P. lutea*. Picoplankton did not constitute important carbon sources (Supplementary Tables 4 and 5).

2.5 Discussion

Healthy corals living in well-illuminated waters obtain most of their metabolic requirements from autotrophy, but heterotrophy plays a crucial role in supplementing the carbon-rich autotrophic diet with nitrogen and phosphorus (Goldberg, 2018). The survival and recovery of bleached corals may be totally or partially contingent on heterotrophy to compensate for the lack of organic matter resulting from the loss of Symbiodiniaceae (Hughes and Grottoli, 2013; Schoepf et al., 2015b). Heterotrophy may also change according to environmental conditions and coral health. Our experimental configuration enabled us to measure feeding rates in both healthy and bleached coral conditions and under normal (27 °C) and stressful (33 °C) seawater temperatures. Picoand nanoplankton also represent the main carbon and nitrogen sources there. They play crucial roles in the organic carbon and nitrogen flow through the food web. They also link the planktonic and benthic environments (Casareto et al., 2006, 2000; Ferrier-Pagès and Gattuso, 1998; Ribes et al., 2003). Recently, it was shown that corals can feed on pico-nanoplankton (Houlbrèque et al., 2004; Picciano and Ferrier-Pagès, 2007; Tremblay et al., 2011). The use of concentrated plankton enabled the efficient measurement of feeding rates within a short time frame (6 h). In this way, changes in

coral condition due to chamber enclosing effects were avoided. Despite the seawater concentration, the plankton densities in our experimental chambers still corresponded with those normally observed in Okinawan reef waters (Casareto et al., 2006)[.] Therefore, our feeding rate estimates were comparable to those found under natural conditions.

Two species of scleractinian corals that are very common in Okinawan waters (Hongo and Yamano, 2013) were evaluated in the present study: the branching *Montipora digitata* and the massive *Porites lutea*. They both have rather small polyps. However, the polyps of *P. lutea* are twice the size of those of *M. digitata* whereas the protein content in *P. lutea* is $\sim 5\times$ greater than that in *M. digitata*. These morphophysiological differences may reflect the variations in food requirement, the particle size preference, and/or feeding efficiency between these two species. Heterotrophy may also change according to environmental conditions and coral health.

Based on the number of cells consumed or organic carbon incorporated per coral protein unit, *M. digitata* consumed more pico-nanoplankton cells (72-87 % in healthy or 29-74 % in bleached) and more carbon (70-94 % in healthy or 50-71 % in bleached) than healthy *P. lutea*. However, *M. digitata* consumed mainly NF, which is an important carbon source, whereas *P. lutea* consumed only PCY and PF, both of which are comparatively poorer carbon sources. These results answer our question (1) related to feeding rates in terms of prey selection and organic carbon assimilation. All treatment combinations of *P. lutea* incorporated more cells per polyp than the healthy *M. digitata* nubbins at normal temperature possibly because this species possesses relatively large polyps. Nevertheless, *M. digitata* consumed mainly NF, which is an important carbon

source. In contrast, *P. lutea* consumed equal amounts of all plankton across the size spectrum. These results answer second part of our question (1) related to feeding implications due to differences in polyp size and density. Under the combination of bleaching and thermal stress, *M. digitata* feeding dramatically decreased but its food preference shifted towards NF. At normal temperature, bleached corals consumed more cells and incorporated more carbon than did healthy corals. *M. digitata* consumed equal amounts of all plankton across the size spectrum but under combined bleaching and thermal stress, they consumed only pico plankton, which are not important carbon sources. These results answer second part and third part of our question. The relatively high feeding rates of *M. digitata*, particularly with NF as the main food source, indicate that this species depends upon heterotrophy to overcome bleaching.

An important aspect of *P. lutea* coral is the possession of endolithic community. (Sangsawang et al., 2017) reported the translocation of organic carbon and nitrogen from the endolithic community to the tissues of both healthy *P. lutea*. This supply of organic matter from the endolithic community of *P. lutea* explains its low feeding rates compared to those for *M. digitata*.



branching Montipora digitata



healthy M. digitata



massive Porites lutea



healthy P. lutea



bleached M. digitata



bleached P. lutea

Figure 5 Healthy and bleached coral nubbins used during incubation experiment





Figure 6 Incubation experiment design



Figure 7 Incubation system for coral feeding experiment



Figure 8 Tangential flow filtrated system and preparation of seawater for incubation process.



Figure 9 Character of pico- and nanoplankton groups under fluorescence microscope

Table 1 Morphological and biological characteristics of healthy and bleached coralsbefore incubation (means \pm SD).

Corals condition	Polyp size	Polyp density	Protein	Symbiodiniaceae
	(mm)	(cm ⁻²)	$(mg cm^{-2})$	(cells cm ⁻²)
Healthy corals				
M. digitata	0.51 ± 0.08	63.64 ± 4.70	0.43 ± 0.1	$0.69\pm0.1\times\!\!10^6$
P. lutea	1.17 ± 0.22	49.09 ± 3.75	0.35 ± 0.0	$0.37\pm0.1\times\!\!10^6$
Bleached corals				
M. digitata	0.51 ± 0.08	63.64 ± 4.70	2.24 ± 0.1	$2.41\pm0.0\times\!\!10^6$
P. lutea	1.17 ± 0.22	49.09 ± 3.75	1.55 ± 0.4	$1.40\pm0.7\times\!\!10^6$
Replicates (n)	30-40	10-11	9	6



Figure 10 Symbiodiniaceae densities of (a) *M. digitata* and (b) *P. lutea* before (initial) and after 6 h incubation at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures. Data are means \pm SD, n = 6 for each treatment. One-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among temperature treatments, * = p < 0.05



Figure 11 Total protein concentration of corals tissue: (a) M. digitata and (b) P. lutea before (initial) and after 6 h incubation at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures. Data are means \pm SD, n = 9 for each treatment. One-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among temperature treatments, ** = p < 0.01







Figure 13 Feeding rates of coral nubbins in total number of cells (pico- nanoplankton) consumed per mg protein (in coral tissue) per hour in at 27 °C and 33 °C. Data are means \pm SD, n = 3 for each treatment. Two-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among coral species and temperature treatments, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.



Figure 14 Carbon assimilated of coral feeding by pico- and nanoplankton groups in ng C per protein (in coral tissue) per hour of corals at 27 °C and 33 °C. Data are means \pm SD, n = 3 for each treatment. One-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among temperature treatments, * p < 0.05, **. p < 0.01, ***. p < 0.001.



Figure 15 Total ng carbon (A, B) and nitrogen (C, D) assimilated of corals feeding per protein (in coral tissue) per hour (picoplankton + nanoplankton) at 27 °C and at 33 °C. Data are means \pm SD, n = 3 for each treatment. Two-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among coral species and temperature treatments, * p < 0.05, **. p < 0.01, ***. p < 0.001.

Coral species	Healthy		Bleached	
	27 °C	33 °C	27 °C	33 °C
M. digitata	9.6 ± 0.2	8.4 ± 0.01	8.4 ± 0.02	9.4 ± 0.4
P. lutea	9.3 ± 0.8	10.6 ± 0.4	10.0 ± 0.1	11.8 ± 0.7

Table 2 C:N ratio of incorporated organic matter by *Montipora digitata* and *Poriteslutea* (mean \pm SD, n = 3).

or per cm² of coral tissue. Values indicate mean \pm SD, n = 3

	M. digitata	P. lutea	
Cells polyp ⁻¹ h ⁻¹			
Healthy - 27 °C	287.7 ± 46.4	148.7 ± 36.9	
Healthy - 33 °C	326.4 ± 38.7	386.3 ± 43.2	
Bleached - 27 °C	299.8 ± 25.6	317.3 ± 44.8	
Bleached - 33 °C	63.2 ± 26.6	186.3 ± 126.7	
Cells cm ⁻² h ⁻¹			
Healthy - 27 °C	$1.8 \pm 0.3 \; x10^4$	$0.7 \pm 0.1 \ x10^4$	
Healthy - 33 °C	$2.0 \pm 0.2 \; x10^4$	$0.8 \pm 0.2 \; x10^4$	
Bleached - 27 °C	$1.9\pm0.2\times\!\!10^4$	$2.1\pm0.6\times\!\!10^4$	
Bleached - 33 °C	$0.4\pm0.2\times\!\!10^4$	$0.9\pm0.4\times\!\!10^4$	
ng C polyp ⁻¹ h ⁻¹			
Healthy - 27 °C	0.22 ± 0.2	0.11 ± 0.02	
Healthy - 33 °C	0.56 ± 0.02	0.39 ± 0.1	
Bleached - 27 °C	0.36 ± 0.01	0.45 ± 0.03	
Bleached - 33 °C	0.18 ± 0.1	0.09 ± 0.02	
ng C cm ⁻² h ⁻¹			
Healthy - 27 °C	14.18 ± 15.6	5.68 ± 0.2	
Healthy - 33 °C	36.19 ± 1.0	22.26 ± 1.2	
Bleached - 27 °C	27.46 ± 2.10	19.10 ± 5.7	
Bleached - 33 °C	15.00 ± 3.0	4.62 ± 6.7	

Chapter 3

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) flux from

M. digitata and P. lutea

3.1 Abstract

Scleractinian coral secrete mucus (mainly dissolve organic carbon, DOC) to trap plankton especially pico- and nano- size from the seawater. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) were monitored at the initial and final incubation experiment of healthy and bleached coral at normal (27 °C) and stressful (33 °C) seawater temperatures about 6 h and supplied by natural assemblages of pico-nanoplankton concentrated via tangential flow system. This researched would like to understand coral efficiency and capture pico- and nanoplankton from dissolved organic matter (DOC) fluxes dynamics during incubations. The result shown a negative DOC flux in bleached M. digitata at 33 °C showed that decreased plankton capture was due to reduced mucus secretion. Conversely, P. lutea continued to release DOC even under the combined stress. Therefore, I concluded that mucus release in P. lutea could serve for another purpose besides plankton trapping. Moreover, protein catabolism was observed in *P. lutea* under the combined stresses. M. digitata was highly dependent on heterotrophy and very efficient at food capture. Nevertheless, its plankton capture performance was substantially diminished by the combination of bleaching and heating. On the other hand, P. lutea was comparatively less dependent on heterotrophy and was able to catabolize stored materials (proteins).

3.2 Introduction

In coral reef environments, pico-plankton (0.2-2 μ m) and nano-plankton (2-20 μ m) are the most important components of the particulate of organic matter (Casareto et al., 2006; Charpy, 2005). Many hard and soft corals release mucus to trap small size of particulate matter as pico- and nanoplankton from surrounding sea water for feeding, which are a source of reef (Naumann et al., 2009). When corals produce mucus, almost dissolves in the sea water immediately about 56% to 80% of coral mucus production. At the same time, bactreoplankton can utilize mucus release from coral release as a food source (Ducklow and Mitchell, 1979; Wild et al., 2004). This is important for converting dissolve nutrient into particulate biomass Therefore, coral mucus can act as an energy-rich (DOC/DON) for the microbial loop in food web to higher consumer levels (Bythell and Wild, 2011), such as, sponge (Rix et al., 2016), cnidarians (Coffroth, 1990; Naumann et al., 2009). Coral mucus can be degraded in the water column (Moriarty et al, 1985). Scleractinian coral also produce mucus under environment stress to protect them from coral disease, dehydration, UV radiation, pollutants, oil spill, sedimentation, salinity or temperature changes (Bythell and Wild, 2011). Moreover, corals also may absorb dissolve organic matter (DOM) such as dissolved free amino acids (DFAA) under certain conditions, especially starvation. In this study, I wished to understand a role of dissolved organic carbon flux in feeding efficiency of pico-, nanoplankton by both healthy and bleached corals.

3.3 Methods

The dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations in seawater were collect before and after 6h incubation experiments. Thirty milliliters seawater from each incubation chamber was collected using a glass syringe directly connected to a 25-mm diameter glass fiber filter set (Whatman GF/F; Toyo Roshi Kaisha Ltd., Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, Japan). The seawater samples were filtered and directly dispensed into brown glass vials (Shinomura et al., 2005). They were preserved at -20 °C until analysis (Figure 16). The glass fiber filters were pre-combusted at 500 °C for 4 h. The DOC concentrations were measured with a TOC-LCPH auto analyzer (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan) by the high-temperature combustion catalytic oxidation method (Suzuki et al., 1992). The analytical precision of the DOC measurement was within 0.95%. The intercept and slope of the calibration curve were determined for the total blank. An international certified reference material (deep Sargasso Sea water; Hansell Lab, University of Miami, Coral Gables, FL, USA) was used as a reference material for the DOC measurements. DOC concentrations were calculated by subtracting the value of the intercept and dividing the difference by the slope of the calibration curve (Shinomura et al., 2005).

3.4 Results

The dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations at the initial time (raw seawater), after 6 h incubation (final) in the control chambers (only seawater), or in the coral chambers and DOC fluxes (ΔDOC or δDOC) are shown in Table 4, Figure 17. DOC fluxes in the control chambers represent the contributions of the planktonic community to the incubated seawater. DOC fluxes in the coral incubations represent the contributions of both, the corals and the planktonic community, to the incubated seawater. Finally, δ DOC represents the contributions of only the corals to the incubated seawater. DOC contributions of healthy M. digitata were similar at both, 27 °C and 33 °C (9.2 \pm 0.8 μ mol L⁻¹ and 10.0 \pm 1.2 μ mol L⁻¹, respectively). The highest DOC contribution (17.1 \pm 1.0 µmol L⁻¹) was observed for bleached nubbins at 27 °C. Nevertheless, a negative flux (-18.9 \pm 2.0 μ mol L⁻¹) was observed for the bleached nubbins at 33 °C; therefore, these corals were taking up DOC from the surrounding seawater. For P. lutea, higher DOC contributions were observed in the bleached coral compared with the healthy coral, at both 27 °C and 33 °C. The healthy nubbins at 33 °C contributed with less DOC (5.4 \pm 4.9 μ mol L⁻¹) than those at 27 °C (12.3 \pm 7.4 μ mol L⁻ ¹).

To test for a possible association between DOC release (as mucus) and piconanoplankton trapping efficiency, the correlations between feeding rates (cells $\times 10^5$ mg⁻¹ protein) and the DOC flux (µmol mg⁻¹ protein) are presented in Figure 18. A positive significant correlation was observed for *M. digitata* (r = 0.887, n = 12, *p* < 0.05). However, no correlation was found for *P. lutea* (r = 0.100, n = 12). These results suggest that feeding efficiencies depend on the amount of DOC release for *M. digitata* but not for *P. lutea*.

3.5 Discussion

Corals produce mucus nets to trap pico and nanosized particles (Muscatine, 1973). Corals release substantial quantities of mucus into seawater. Fifty to eighty percent of it dissolves and serves as food for bacteria, thereby enhancing their growth and that of the pico- and nanoflagellates, which graze upon them (Wild et al., 2004). Mucus enriched with pico- and nanoplankton in the form of dissolved organic matter is re-incorporated by coral polyps. Therefore, I monitored changes in DOC production and fluxes during the incubations to determine the role of DOC (as the main component of coral mucus) in coral food capture.

The DOC fluxes for *M. digitata* agreed well with the cell capture ability of this coral. The bleached nubbins incubated at normal temperature had the highest positive DOC fluxes (net release) followed by the healthy nubbins incubated at 33 °C. This is in agreement with Tremblay et al., (2012) in which *Stylophora pistillata* under heat stress showed positive POC fluxes against net uptake in control corals. However, in our incubations, a negative DOC flux (net uptake) was only observed in bleached *M. digitata* incubated at 33 °C. This shows that these fragments required more energy source than those obtained solely from the autotrophy plus plankton feeding. This phenomenon accounts for the substantial decline in its feeding rate from 93.1 ng C mg⁻¹ protein h⁻¹ in healthy corals at 33 °C to 27.5 ng C mg⁻¹ protein h⁻¹ in bleached corals, with thermal stress. These data suggest that *M. digitata* strongly depends upon mucus

production for heterotrophy as shown in Figure 18, which exemplified the positive correlation between prey capture and DOC fluxes. On the contrary, bleached P. lutea released higher amounts of DOC, compared with the healthy samples, at both temperatures. However, feeding efficiency (both cell capture and carbon incorporation) in bleached P. lutea under high seawater temperature was very low. Moreover, there was no correlation between the feeding rates and DOC fluxes under these conditions. P. lutea may not depend upon DOC release for effective prey capture, and it may release mucus under stress for reasons other than predation. For example, Brown and Bythell reported that coral mucus quenches harmful reactive oxygen species and Wooldridge suggested that POC release could be a strategy of the host to avoid photo-inhibition of its symbionts (Brown and Bythell, 2005; Wooldridge, 2009b). These stimuli might also have induced DOC release from bleached P. lutea, under heat stress conditions. Other authors also found substantial differences in DOC fluxes among different coral species. Fitt et al., (2009) found a drastic mucus reduction in tissues of S. pistillata subjected to heat stress and further death during recovery in contrast with high mucus content in tissues of Porites cylindrica subjected to heat stress. This shows that fluxes of DOC in corals under different stressful conditions may vary and different coral species may show different responses, therefore DOC fluxes may reflect a species-specific physiological response.



Figure 16 DOC concentration of seawater were collected before and after

6h incubation experiment
Table 4 Concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC; μ mol L⁻¹) for the initial seawater samples and those incubated (control or coral incubation), for healthy and bleached corals at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures (means ± SD, n = 3). Differences between coral conditions and temperatures were tested by two-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test. **a** indicates statistical difference with **b** at *p* < 0.01

Corals and condition	initial DOC (seawater)	final DOC (seawater) control	final DOC (coral)	ΔDOC seawater (control-initial)	∆DOC coral (coral-initial)	δ DOC (ΔDOC seawater-ΔDOC coral)
M. digitata						
27 °C Healthy	90.2 ± 3.9	135.6 ± 1.9	144.8 ± 2.2	45.3 ± 2.1	54.6 ± 1.9	9.2 ± 0.8
27 °C Bleached	99.8 ± 2.0	127.5 ± 5.0	144.7 ± 5.7	27.8 ± 3.0	44.9 ± 3.8	17.1 ± 1.0^{a}
33 °C Healthy	106.7 ± 2.1	134.8 ± 3.1	144.8 ± 2.1	28.1 ± 3.2	38.1 ± 2.9	10.0 ± 1.2^{a}
33 °C Bleached	99.8 ± 2.0	140.2 ± 1.2	121.2 ± 1.0	40.4 ± 2.0	21.4 ± 3.0	-18.9 ± 2.0 ^b
P. lutea						
27 °C Healthy	76.0 ± 2.3	93.5 ± 0.7	105.9 ± 7.9	17.6 ± 2.5	29.9 ± 9.7	12.3 ± 7.4
27 °C Bleached	78.3 ± 2.1	141.1 ± 1.9	163.4 ± 13.4	62.8 ± 3.1	85.1 ± 14.4	22.2 ± 15.0
33 °C Healthy	76.0 ± 2.3	103.3 ± 4.3	108.8 ± 8.5	27.4 ± 4.5	32.8 ± 9.3	5.4 ± 4.9
33 °C Bleached	78.3 ± 2.1	114.4 ± 4.1	136.9 ± 3.4	36.1 ± 3.2	58.6 ± 2.5	22.5 ± 5.6



Figure 17 Flux of dissolved organic carbon (DOC; μ mol L⁻¹) as the difference between before and after incubation for healthy and bleached *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* nubbins at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures. Incubation time was 6 h.



Figure 18 Correlations between total feeding rate and δ DOC for (a) *M. digitata* and (b) *P. lutea* (n = 12 for each species).

Chapter 4

Organic carbon acquisition from heterotrophy vs. respiration of autotrophyc products (glucose and glycerol)

4.1 Abstract

Autotrophy is the main nutrition source for Scleractinian corals: they can receive up to 95% of their nutrition via translocation for their Symbiodiniaceae in the form of sugars, glycerol, and amino acids (Tremblay et al., 2014). However, recent environmental changes including elevated sea-surface water temperatures and strong solar irradiance along with diminishing water quality had resulted in an increase of the incidence and severity of coral bleaching worldwide (Coles and Brown, 2003). Bleached corals lose their endosymbiotic Symbiodiniaceae and/or pigments (Baumann et al., 2014; D'Croz et al., 2001; Glynn, 1996; Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999; Suzuki et al., 2015). Therefore, relatively less organic matter is translocated to them. Consequently, their metabolic energy levels decline, their physiology is altered, and their survivorship decreases. Symptoms of coral bleaching include a reduction in calcification (Leder et al., 1991; Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2006), increases in the catabolism of reserved materials (Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2007; Schoepf et al., 2015a), and enhanced heterotrophy (Grottoli et al., 2006) The aim of this chapter was to evaluate how much heterotrophy represents when compare with the consumption (respiration) of autotrophyc products during the dark respiration period. In order to evaluate dark respiration glycerol and glucose concentrations were measured in coral tissues over the 6 h of our feeding experiment under dark conditions. The fluxes of photosynthatic products was compared with the carbon incorporation via heterotrophic feeding. The result show that, glycerol concentration in both healthy and bleached corals at 33 °C decreased than those at the initial and at 27°C. Glucose concentrations in *M. digitata* showed similar pattern with glycerol. Conversely in *P. lutea* showed glycerol increased at all conditions, particularly under thermal stress. Net carbon flux by heterotrophy (%), with respect to dark respiration of carbon from autotrophic products was varied from 3% to 65% in *M. digitata* and from 7% to 68% in *P. lutea*. Due to both of coral species differences of shape and differences of coral tissue in thickness, I suggest the hypotheses that thick coral tissue as *P. lutea* have energy reserved from photosynthates higher than those thin coral tissue as *M. digitata*. Moreover, *P. lutea* was obtain the other energy from endolithic algae translocation which are located inside skeletons but did not found in skeletons of *M. digitata*. All symbiont composition of *P. lutea* indicated that massive and encrusting coral are survive environmental stress events better than branching corals.

4.2 Introduction

Symbiodiniaceae synthesized organic carbon that is translocated to coral tissue for methabolism and growth (Muscatine et al., 1981; Tremblay et al., 2012; Yellowlees et al., 2008). Glycerol and glucose are the two main carbon sources from photosynthsis (Tremblay et al., 2012; Yamashiro et al., 2005). Historically, glycerol was consider to be the main component to in translocated from photosynthetically fix carbon by Symbiodiniaceae to their scleractinian corals (Battey and Patton, 1987; Muscatine and Cernichiari, 1969). However, recent studies show that glucose is the most important organic carbon translocatied to the host in normal condition (Burriesci et al., 2012; Molina et al., 2017). However, glycerol translocation increases when the corals are subjected to stressful conditions as strong irradiance and/or high seawater temperature. Duc Nguyen et al., (2018) found that glycerol concentration increased when M. digitata was exposed to light and high temperature seawater enhancing the growth and antimicrobial properties of certain Vibrio bacteria. According to Burriesci et al. (2012) glucose early production in host tissue but not glycerol after exposure to light and ¹³Cbicarbonate suggesting that glucose is the major translocated metabolite in dinoflagellate-cnidarian symbiosis and that the release of glycerol from isolated algae may be part of a stress response. Molina et al., (2017) found that glucose significantly decrease in bleached sea anemone Exaiptasia pallida together with a significant increase in glycerol, suggesting that bleached sea anemones degrade lipids to compensate for the loss of symbionts. The above studies were done in experiments under light to measure photosynthesis products. However, a few research was done to study the respiration of photoassimilates, particularly during the dark period (Wooldridge, 2013).. In this chapter glycerol and glucose were measure in order to understand organic matter respiration (consumption) and compare with gain of organic matter from heterotrophy. The main objective was to evaluate how much heterotorphy represents when compare with respiration during dark hours.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Glycerol and glucose concentration from coral tissue

Glycerol and glucose concentrations were measured at the beginning and at the end of the incubation experiments (corals nubbins from chapter 2). A small part of coral nubbins was ground in a mortar containing 2 mL of 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer at pH 7.5 and centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 3 min. After that Triplicate 25-µL supernatant aliquots were loaded into 96-well microtiter plates and quantified with a PierceTM BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). Glycerol and glucose were measured with Glycerol Colorimetric Assay Kit (Cayman Chemical, MI, USA) and Glucose Colorimetric Assay Kit (Cayman Chemical) by measuring absorbances at 540 and 510 nm following manufacturer's protocol (glycerol and glucose respectively). The concentrations were normalized to the surface area of the coral pieces.

4.3.2 Estimation of organic carbon fluxes

In order to estimate consumption of energy reserves during the 6 h incubations, I measured concentrations of the two most important products from Symbiodiniaceae, glycerol and glucose (Battey and Patton, 1987, 1984; Burriesci et al., 2012; Molina et al., 2017; Suescún-Bolívar et al., 2016) that are translocated to the coral tissues (Figure 4). On the basis of the molecular weights and the atomic carbon weights of glycerol and glucose, we calculated the organic carbon fluxes of these two products and further compared with the carbon incorporation via heterotrophic feeding. Fluxes were calculated as the difference between final and initial concentrations (positive values for increased and negative values for decreased concentrations). Carbon calculations were done using glycerol ($C_3H_5(OH)_3$: 36/92) and glucose ($C_6H_{12}O_6$: 72/180) as reference.

4.3.3 Statistical analysis

Data were checked for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test; square root transformation was performed when data were not normally distributed. ANOVA was performed to identify any significant differences among experimental conditions. Post hoc Tukey's test was used to compare differences when ANOVA showed statistically significant effects. Minitab v. 14 (Minitab Inc., State College, PA, USA) was used for all statistical analyses.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Glycerol concentrations

Variations of the glycerol concentrations during the incubations (μ g cm⁻²) are shown in Figure 19. The initial concentrations of glycerol in the healthy *M. digitata* were 2.0 times (16.3 ± 5.1 µg cm⁻², *p* < 0.05) higher than those in the bleached nubbins. Under thermal stress (33 °C) the glycerol concentrations significantly decreased (7.7 ± 2.4 µg cm⁻², *p* < 0.05), with respect to the initial and final concentrations under normal (27 °C) temperature conditions. Bleached nubbins showed fluctuations during the incubations, but no statistically significant changes were observed. In *P. lutea*, the initial concentration of glycerol was 3 times higher than in the bleached nubbins; in healthy nubbins the concentrations significantly decreased (18.7±3.2 µg cm⁻², *p* < 0.001) under thermal stress, whereas bleached nubbins showed fluctuations but not significant changes.

4.4.2 Glucose concentrations

At the initial stage of the experiment, the glucose concentrations of healthy *M. digitata* almost double those of the bleached. During the incubations, glucose concentrations decreased, but no significant differences were noted among the conditions (p > 0.05). Conversely, glucose in *P. lutea* increased during the incubations, particularly those under thermal stress incubations with both, healthy, and bleached conditions (Figure 20).

4.4.3 Net organic carbon flux from autotrophy and carbon acquisition from heterotrophy

In healthy *Montipora digitata*, fluxes of organic carbon from glycerol were negative (consumption) and more pronounced (1.4 times higher) for corals under thermal stress. However, in bleached nubbins, positive fluxes of carbon from glycerol were observed at 27 °C (Figure 21A). Carbon from glucose was consumed under both temperature treatments and for both coral conditions. In *Porites lutea*, the pattern was quite different, with positive fluxes of carbon from glucose in all treatments, and consumption of glycerol for both coral conditions under thermal stress (Figure 21B).

In *M. digitata* the carbon acquisition by heterotrophy (%) with respect to consumption of carbon from autotrophic products (Table 5) was high (65%) for bleached fragments at 27 °C but very low (3%) under thermal stress. The carbon contribution from heterotrophy was similar (6%) in healthy corals at both seawater temperatures. In thermally stressed *P. lutea*, carbon acquisition from heterotrophy was 68% in healthy corals, but only 7% in bleached corals. However, under normal temperature, fluxes of autotrophic products were not detected in healthy and bleached *P. lutea* within our incubation time.

4.5 Discussion

During incubations, glycerol and glucose were measured, calculated their fluxes (in terms of organic carbon) and compare with the incorporation of organic carbon from heterotrophy. Glucose is the main autotrophic product of Symbiodiniaceae (Burriesci et al., 2012) and is easily consumed by the host; meanwhile, glycerol is produced by Symbiodiniaceae when they are subjected to osmotic stress (Mayfield and Gates, 2007; Seibt and Schlichter, 2001). The results showed that glycerol was metabolized during incubations of both corals in the healthy conditions and when they were subjected to thermal stress; however, glycerol increased in bleached corals under normal temperature conditions. Molina et al. (2017) also observed similar patterns, and they suggested that corals may degrade lipids to glycerol to compensate for the loss of Symbiodiniaceae. Conversely, glucose was mainly consumed during incubations of *M. digitata* under heat stress. By the contrary, glucose was incorporated along incubations under any of the conditions in P. lutea. As the incubations were performed under dark conditions, the incorporation of glucose by P. lutea was not due to translocation from Symbiodiniaceae, but most probably from translocation from their endolithic community. Sangsawang et al. (2017) demonstrated that the endolithic community of P. lutea collected in the same reef, translocated their photo assimilates to the coral tissue under both, healthy and bleached conditions, during extended periods of time covering also dark hours. The huge increase of glucose in P. lutea tissues during incubations was attributed to endolith translocations.

In terms of net carbon fluxes, substantial consumption of photoassimilates during the dark period was found in healthy *M. digitata* at any temperature and bleached *M*.

digitata under thermal stress; however, carbon incorporation by heterotrophy for both corals condition at 33 °C did not represent more than 3% to 6% of this consumption. Conversely, bleached corals at normal temperatures consumed lower levels of photoassimilates; therefore, carbon incorporation by heterotrophy appeared to be higher, accounting for 65% of the total. Photoassimilates of P. lutea were consumed only under thermal stress conditions; this consumption was higher in bleached corals. Carbon incorporation by heterotrophy was high in healthy corals (68%); however bleached corals under thermal stress incorporated 7% with respect to glycerol consumption. Respiration of photoassimilates was very high in *M. digitata*; however, the metabolic cost in P. lutea was very low owing to glucose incorporation. Other studies reported comparable values of contribution of heterotrophy (in % of respiration) as 28.7 % and 15.9 %, for Oculina patagonica and Turbinaria reniformis, respectively(Tremblay et al., 2011), and from 10 to 30 % for Styllophora pistillata (Tremblay et al., 2014). These data suggest that bleached *P. lutea* under thermal stress may face its metabolic coasts in a more successful manner. Taken together, these results answer the second question (2) raised in the introduction about how bleached corals under thermal stress may modify their feeding strategy.

The relatively high feeding rates of *M. digitata*, indicate that this species depends upon heterotrophy to overcome bleaching. However, when bleaching was combined with high seawater temperature, *M. digitata* could not produce enough mucus for particle trapping; therefore, its capture ability was dramatically reduced. Moreover, bleaching with high temperature forced *M. digitata* to uptake DOC from the surrounding waters to compensate for the lack of energy resources. *P. lutea* was relatively less dependent on heterotrophy, if considering the important difference in particle capture and organic matter incorporation when compared to *M. digitata*. However, *P. lutea* incorporated glucose most probably via translocation form endoliths that help the coral to be relatively independent from heterotrophy. Bleached *P. lutea* continued to secrete mucus, but most probably for purposes other than particle capture. These results answer questions (2) and (3) set out in the introduction, related to the responses of feeding behaviors when the corals are bleached and subjected to thermal stress and how the energy allocation vary under these conditions.



M. digitata

Figure 19 Glycerol concentrations (μ g mg⁻¹ protein) in the healthy and bleached *M*. *digitata* and *P. lutea* at initial (0 h) and after 6 h incubations at 27 °C and 33 °C of seawater temperature. Data are the means \pm SD, n = 6 for each treatment. Three-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among coral conditions, the temperature treatments, and incubation time, *** p < 0.001.



M. digitata





Figure 20 Glucose concentrations (μ g mg⁻¹ protein) in the healthy and bleached *M*. *digitata* and *P. lutea* at initial (0 h) and after 6 h incubations at 27 °C and 33 °C of seawater temperature. Data are the means ± SD, n = 6 for each treatment. Three-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were applied to identify the differences among coral conditions, the temperature treatments, and incubation time * p < 0.05; *** p < 0.001.



Figure 21 Net fluxes of organic carbon from glycerol and glucose and organic carbon acquisition from heterotrophy during 6 h incubations of (A) *M. digitata* and (B) *P. lutea*. Data are mean \pm SD, n = 6 for each condition.

Table 5 Net fluxes of organic carbon from glycerol and glucose and organic carbon acquisition from heterotrophy (% of glycerol and/or glucose consumption) during 6 h incubations of *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* at normal (27 °C) and high (33 °C) seawater temperatures. Data are mean \pm SD for each condition, n = 6 for glucose and glycerol; n = 3 for heterotrophy. Negative values indicate consumption.

Coral	ng mg ⁻¹ protein	Healthy		Bleached			
species	6 h	27°C	33°C	27°C	33°C		
M. digitata	C of glycerol	$-4,308 \pm 3,251$	$-7,100 \pm 4,938$	$1,209 \pm 1,279$	-799 ± 417		
	C of glucose	$-3,493 \pm 1,976$	$-2,267 \pm 2,883$	$-752 \pm 3,023$	$-5,009 \pm 2,138$		
	C of feeding	439 ± 11	558 ± 8	486 ± 65	165 ± 42		
	% *	6	6	65	3		
P. lutea	C of glycerol	$1,420 \pm 464$	-60 ± 53	$500 \pm 1{,}576$	-504 ± 642		
	C of glucose	$1,\!057\pm553$	$4,233 \pm 2,572$	$1,\!266\pm822$	$1,\!357\pm686$		
	C of feeding	6 ± 1	41 ± 5	34 ± 0.7	35 ± 0.3		
	% *		68		7		

*% acquisition with respect to respiration of autotrophic products (glycerol and/or glucose)

Chapter 5

General conclusions

5.1 Heterotrophic feeding of coral

The present study revealed different strategies and dependences of the two selected corals species on heterotrophy. *M. digitata* appeared highly dependent upon heterotrophy. It was highly efficient at food capturing, however under thermal stresses, bleached coral's capture efficiency decreased and needed to uptake DOC from the surrounding environment to compensate its daily metabolic requirements. *P. lutea* was comparatively less dependent upon heterotrophy, it may utilize the organic matter translocated from the endolithic community to produce mucus and was able to maintain certain level of heterotrophy (~11% of dark consumption) with selecting higher C/N ratio food items. Therefore, this coral species is relatively more resistant to bleaching events even at elevated seawater temperatures.

In Okinawan waters the corals *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* represent important components of the reefs; therefore, their survivorship may have implications for the coral reef resilience in this area. While *M. digitata* appears to be more dependent on heterotrophy, *P. lutea* may thrive under these adverse conditions due to its strategy to face its metabolic coasts thanks to a potential exogenous supply or organic matter from their endolithic communities. In this way, *P. lutea* is relatively more tolerant to bleaching, having greater chances of survival and recovery. Therefore, this species is more likely to be able to colonize decimated coral reef ecosystems.

5.2 New findings (research)

Trophic ecology of corals is an important field that is becoming more frequently studied and that has tremendous implications in the current climate change scenario. However, new finding on this study is feeding efficiency of corals in relation with bleaching tolerance. Pico- and nanoplankton feeding was the main point to investigate between the corals *Montipora digitata* and *Porites lutea*. My results showed complete differences for heterotrophic feeding behavior between these coral species, because dependences of the two selected corals species on heterotrophy, or quantitative relationship between DOC and heterotrophic feeding showed differences. M. digitata appeared highly dependent upon heterotrophy. It was highly efficient at food capturing, however under the combined stress treatments, the coral's capture efficiency decreased, and it needed to uptake DOC from the surrounding environment to compensate its daily metabolic requirements. While as that P. lutea was comparatively less dependent upon heterotrophy, it utilized the organic matter translocated from the endolithic community to produce mucus and was able to maintain certain level of heterotrophy by selecting higher C/N ratio food items. Overall, P. lutea is relatively more resistant to bleaching events even at elevated seawater temperatures, therefore this coral may have greater chances of survival and recovery.

5.3 Future research

Findings in this greatly contribute to the understanding of coral feeding and survival strategies under the actual scenario of high seawater temperature and extended bleaching periods. Particularly in Okinawa reefs, these two-coral species represent important components of the reefs, therefore their survivorship may have tremendous implication for the coral reef resilience in this area.

Our incubation was set-up under dark condition considering that heterotrophy is enhanced during the night; experiments during the day (light period) need to be performed to compare feeding rates under these two conditions. Moreover, Studies on coral feeding in different habitats such as shaded area and deep corals (mesophotic areas) with lower illumination. More understand on the mechanism of bigger plankton trapping using tentacles: especially what coral condition induce this feeding strategy. Further studies should be done to compare feeding rates and uptake of organic matter from heterotrophy vs autotrophy of corals growing in well illuminated areas vs. those corals adapted to shaded areas.

References

- Al-Moghrabi, S., Allemand, D., Jaubert, J., 1993. Valine uptake by the scleractinian coral *Galaxea fascicularis*: characterization and effect of light and nutritional status. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 163(5), 355-362. doi: 10.1007/BF00265638.
- Anthony, K.R.N., Fabricius, K.E., 2000. Shifting roles of heterotrophy and autotrophy in coral energetics under varying turbidity J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Eco. 252(2), 221-253. doi: 10.1016/S0022-0981(00)00237-9.
- Anthony, K.R.N., Hoogenboom, M.O., Maynard, J.A., Grottoli, A.G., Middlebrook, R., 2009. Energetics approach to predicting mortality risk from environmental stress:
 A case study of coral bleaching. Funct. Ecol. 23, 539–550. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01531.x.
- Bachok, Z., Mfilinge, P., Tsuchiya, M., 2006. Characterization of fatty acid composition in healthy and bleached corals from Okinawa, Japan. Coral Reefs. 25(4), 545-554. doi: 10.1007/s00338-006-0130-9.
- Battey, J.F., Patton, J.S., 1984. A reevaluation of the role of glycerol in carbon translocation in zooxanthellae-coelenterate symbiosis. Mar. Biol. 79, 27–38. doi.org/10.1007/BF00404982.
- Baumann, J., Grottoli, A.G., Hughes, A.D., Matsui, Y., 2014. Photoautotrophic and heterotrophic carbon in bleached and non-bleached coral lipid acquisition and storage. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 461, 469-478. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2014.09.017.
- Borell, E.M., Yuliantri, A.R., Bischof, K., Richter, C., 2008. The effect of heterotrophy

on photosynthesis and tissue composition of two scleractinian corals under elevated temperature. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Eco. 364(2), 116-123. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.07.033.

- Bourne, D. G., Garren, M., Work, T.M., Rosenberg. E., Smith, G.W., Harvell, C.D., 2009. Microbial disease and the coral holobiont. Trends Microbiol. 17(12), 554-562. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2009.09.004.
- Brown, B.E., Bythell, J.C., 2005. Perspectives on mucus secretion in reef corals. Mar. Ecol. Progress Series, 296, pp. 291–309. doi: 10.3354/meps296291.
- Burriesci, M.S., Raab, T.K., Pringle, J.R., 2012. Evidence that glucose is the major transferred metabolite in dinoflagellate-cnidarian symbiosis. J. Exp.Biol. 215(19) 3467-3477. doi: 10.1242/jeb.070946.
- Casareto, B.E., Charpy, L., Blanchot, J., Suzuki, Y., Kurosawa, K., Ishikawa, Y., 2006. Phototrophic prokaryotes in Bora Bay, Miyako Island, Okinawa, Japan. Proceeding of 10th International coral reef symposium. 844-853.
- Casareto, B.E., Suzuki, Y., Fukami, K., Yoshida, K., 2000. Particulate organic carbon budget and flux in a fringing coral reef at Miyako Island, Okinawa, Japan in July 1996. Proceedings of the 9th Coral Reef Symposium, I(July 1996), 95-100.
- Coles, S.L., Brown, B.E., 2003. Coral bleaching Capacity for acclimatization and adaptation. In advances in Marine Biology (eds A.J., Southward, P.A., Tyler, C.M., Young, L.A., Fuiman), pp. 183–212. Academic Press, London, UK. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(03)46004-5.

- D'Croz, L.D., Male, J.L., Oke, E., 2001, Responses to elevated sea water temperature und UV radiation in the coral *Porites lobata* form upwelling and non-upwelling environments on the pacific coast of Panama. Bull. Mar. Sci. 69(1), 203-214.
- DeCarlo, T.M., Harrison, H.B., Gajdzik, L., Alaguarda, D., Rodolfo-Metalpa, R.,
 D'Olivo, J., Liu, G., Patalwala, D., McCulloch, M.T., 2019. Acclimatization of massive reef-building corals to consecutive heatwaves. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 286. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.0235.
- Eakin, C.M., Sweatman, H.P.A., Brainard, R.E., 2019. The 2014–2017 global-scale coral bleaching event: insights and impacts. Coral Reefs 38, 539–545. doi.org/10.1007/s00338-019-01844-2.
- Fabricius, K.E., 2005. Effects of terrestrial runoff on the ecology of corals and coral reefs: Review and synthesis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50, 125–146. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.11.028.
- Falkowski, P.G., Dubinsky, Z., Muscatine, L., Porter, J.W., 1984. Light and the Bioenergetics of a Symbiotic Coral. BioScience. 34(11), 705-709.
- Ferrier-Pagès, C., Gattuso, J.P., 1998. Biomass, production and grazing rates of picoand nanoplankton in coral reef waters (Miyako Island, Japan). Microb. Ecol. 35(1), 46-57. doi: 10.1007/s002489900059.
- Ferrier-Pagès, C., Witting, J., Tambutté, E., Sebens, K.P., 2003, Effect of natural zooplankton feeding on the tissue and skeletal growth of the scleractinian coral Stylophora pistillata. Coral Reefs. 22(3), 229-240. doi: 10.1007/s00338-003-0312-7.

- Ferrier-Pagès, C., Hoogenboom, M., Houlbrèque, F., 2011. The role of plankton in coral trophodynamics. (eds Dubinsky, Z., Stambler, N.) Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg London New york 215-229. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-0114-4.
- Fitt, W.K., Gates, R.D., Hoegh-Guldberg, O, Bythell, J.C., Jatkar. A., Grottoli, A.G., et al. 2009. Response of two species of Indo-Pacific corals, *Porites cylindrica* and *Stylophora pistillata*, to short-term thermal stress: The host does matter in determining the tolerance of corals to bleaching. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 373, 102-110. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2009.0 3.011.
- Frost, B.W., 1972. Effect of size and concentration of food particles on the feeding behaviour of the marine planktonic copepod *Calanus pacificus*. Limnol. Oceanogr. 1972(17), 805-815. doi: 10.4319/lo.1972.17.6.0805.
- F Fukuda, R., Ogawa, H., Nagata, T., Koike, I., 1998. Direct determination of carbon and nitrogen contents of natural bacterial assemblages in marine environments.
 Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64(9), 3352-3358.
- Gates, R.D., Eomund, P.J., 1999. The physiological mechanisms of acclimatization in tropical reef corals. Am. Zool. 39, 30–43. doi.org/10.1093/icb/39.1.30.
- Glynn, P.W., 1996. Coral reef bleaching: Facts, hypotheses and implications. Glob. Chang. Biol. 2(6), 495-509. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.1996.tb00063.x.
- Goldberg, W.M., 2018. Coral food, feeding, nutrient, and secretion: A review. In
 Marine Organisms as Model Systems in Biology and Medicine (eds. M., Kloc, J.Z., Kubiak), 337-421. Springer, Berlin, Germany. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-92486-1_18.

- Grob, C., Ulloa, O., Claustre, H., Huot, Y., Alarcón, G., Marie, D., 2007. Contribution of picoplankton to the total particulate organic carbon concentration in the eastern South Pacific. Biogeosciences, 4(5), 837-852. doi: 10.5194/bg-4-837-2007.
- Grottoli, A.G., Rodrigues, L.J., Palardy, J.E., 2006. Heterotrophic plasticity and resilience in bleached corals. Nature. 440(7088), 1186-1189. doi: 10.1038/nature04565.
- Heron, S.F., Liu, G., Eakin, C.M., Skirving. W.J., Muller-Karger, F.E., Vera-Rodriguez.
 M., et al. 2015. Climatology Development for NOAA Coral Reef Watch's 5-km
 Product Suite. NOAA Technical Report NESDIS 145,30. doi: 10.7289/V59C6VBS.
- Heron, S.F., Maynard, J.A., Van Hooidonk, R., Eakin, C.M., 2016. Warming Trends and Bleaching Stress of the World's Coral Reefs 1985-2012. Sci. Rep. 6, 1-14. doi.org/10.1038/srep38402.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., 1999. Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Mar. Freshw. Res. 50(8), 839–866. doi.org/10.1071/MF99078.
- Hongo, C., Yamano, H., 2013. Species-Specific Responses of Corals to Bleaching Events on Anthropogenically Turbid Reefs on Okinawa Island, Japan, over a 15year Period (1995-2009). PLoS ONE. 8(4), e60952. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060952.
- Houlbrèque, F., Tambutté, E., Richard, C., Ferrier-Pagès, C., 2004. Importance of a micro-diet for scleractinian corals. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 282, 151-160. doi.org/10.3354/meps282151.

- Hughes, A.D., Grottoli, A.G., 2013. Heterotrophic compensation: A possible mechanism for resilience of coral reefs to global warming or a sign of prolonged stress? PLoS One 8, 1-10. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081172.
- Hughes, A.D., Grottoli, A.G., Pease, T.K., Matsui, Y., 2010. Acquisition and assimilation of carbon in non-bleached and bleached corals. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 420, 91–101. doi.org/10.3354/meps08866.
- Hughes, T.P., Kerry, J.T., Baird, A.H., Connolly, S.R., Dietzel, A., Eakin, C.M., et al.,
 2018. Global warming transforms coral reef assemblages. Nature. 556(7702), 492-496.
- Hughes, T.P., Kerry, J.T., Álvarez- Noriega, M., Álvarez-Romero, J.G., Anderson, K.D.,
 Baird, A.H., et al. 2017. Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals.
 Nature. 543(7645), 373-377. doi: 10.1038/nature21707.
- Johanes, R.E., Wiebe, W.J., 1970. Method for Determination of Coral Tissue Biomass and Composition. Limnol. Oceanogr. 15(5), 822-824. doi: 10.4319/lo.1970.15.5.0822.
- Kayanne, H., 2017. Validation of degree heating weeks as a coral bleaching index in the northwestern Pacific. Coral Reefs. 36(1), 63–70. doi: 10.1007/s00338-016-1524-y.
- Kayanne, H., Suzuki, R., Liu, G., 2017. Bleaching in the Ryukyu Islands in 2016 and associated Degree Heating Week threshold. Galaxea, J. Coral Reef Stud. 19(1), 17-18. doi: 10.3755/galaxea.19.1_17.
- Koren, O., Rosenberg, E., 2006. Bacteria associated with mucus and tissues of the coral

Oculina patagonica in summer and winter. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72(8), 5254– 5259. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00554-06.

- Le Nohaïc, M., Ross, C.L., Cornwall, C.E., Comeau, S., Lowe, R., McCulloch, M.T., Schoepf, V., 2017. Marine heatwave causes unprecedented regional mass bleaching of thermally resistant corals in northwestern Australia. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14794-y.
- Leder, J., Szmant, A.M., Swart, P.K., 1991. The effect of prolonged "bleaching" on skeletal banding and stable isotopic composition in *Montastrea annularis*. Coral reefs, 10, 19-27. doi: 10.1007/BF00304729.
- Lesser, M.P., Farrell, J.H., 2004. Exposure to solar radiation increases damage to both host tissues and algal symbionts of corals during thermal stress. Coral Reefs. 23(3), 367-377. doi: 10.1007/s00338-004-0392-z.
- Lesser, M.P., Stochaj, W.R., Tapley, D.W., Shick, J.M., 1990. Bleaching in coral reef anthozoans: effects of irradiance, ultraviolet radiation, and temperature on the activities of protective enzymes against active oxygen. Coral Reefs. 8(4), 225-232. doi: 10.1007/BF00265015.
- Levas, S.J., Grottoli, A.G., Hughes, A., Osburn, C.L., Matsui, Y., 2013. Physiological and biogeochemical traits of bleaching and recovery in the mounding species of coral *Porites lobata*: implications for resilience in mounding corals. PLoS One 8:e63267.
- Levas, S.J., Grottoli, A.G., Schoepf, V., Aschaffenburg, M., Baumann, J., Bauer, J.E., Warner, M.E., 2015. Can heterotrophic uptake of dissolved organic carbon and

zooplankton mitigate carbon budget deficits in annually bleached corals? Coral Reef. doi: 10.1007/s00338-015-1390-z.

- Li, W.K.W. 1994. Primary Production of Prochlorophytes, Cyanobacteria, and Eucaryotic Ultraphytoplankton : Measurements from Flow Cytometric Sorting. Lim. Ocean. 39(1), 169-175. doi/10.1007/s00338-002-0214-0.
- Loya, Y., Sakai, K., Yamazato, K., Nakano, Y., Sambali, H., Van Woesik, R., 2001. Coral bleaching: The winners and the losers. Ecol. Lett. 4, 122–131. doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2001.00203.x.
- Marangoni, L.F. de B., Mies, M., Güth, A.Z., Banha, T.N.S., Inague, A., Fonseca, J. da S., Dalmolin, C., Faria, S.C., Ferrier-Pagès, C., Bianchini, A., 2019. Peroxynitrite generation and increased heterotrophic capacity are linked to the disruption of the coral–dinoflagellate symbiosis in a scleractinian and hydrocoral species. Microorganisms 7. doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7100426.
- Marsh, J.A., 1970. Primary Productivity of Reef-Building Calcareous Red Algae. Ecology. 51(2), 255-263. doi.org/10.2307/1933661.
- Mayfield, A.B. Gates, R.D., 2007. Osmoregulation in anthozoan-dinoflagellate symbiosis', Comp. Biochem. Phys. A. 147(1), 1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.12.042.
- Mies, M., Güth, A.Z., Tenório, A.A., Banha, T.N.S., Waters, L.G., Polito, P.S.,
 Taniguchi, S., Bícego, M.C., Sumida, P.Y.G., 2018. In situ shifts of predominance
 between autotrophic and heterotrophic feeding in the reef-building coral
 Mussismilia hispida: an approach using fatty acid trophic markers. Coral Reefs 37,

677-689. doi.org/10.1007/s00338-018-1692-z.

- Molina, V.H., Castillo-Medina, R.E., Thomé, P.E., 2017. Experimentally Induced Bleaching in the Sea Anemone Exaiptasia Supports Glucose as a Main Metabolite Associated with Its Symbiosis. J. Mar. Biol. 2017, 1-7. doi: 10.1155/2017/3130723.
- Møller, A.P., Flensted-Jensen, E., Laursen, K., Mardal, W., 2014. Fertilizer Leakage to the Marine Environment, Ecosystem Effects and Population Trends of Waterbirds in Denmark. Ecosystems 18, 30–44. doi.org/10.1007/s10021-014-9810-4.
- Moore, C.J., 2008. Synthetic polymers in the marine environment: A rapidly increasing, long-term threat. Environ. Res. 108, 131–139. doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2008.07.025.
- Muscatine, L., 1973. Nutrition of corals. In biology and geology of coral reefs (eds Jones, O.A., Endean, R,) 77-115. Academic Press. New York, USA.
- Muscatine, L., McCloskey, L. R., Marian, R.E., 1981. Estimating the daily contribution of carbon from zooxanthellae to coral animal respiration. Limnol. Oceanogr. 26(4), 601-611. doi: 10.4319/lo.1981.26.4.0601.
- Naumann, M.S., Haas, A., Struck, U., Mayr, C., el-Zibdah, M., Wild, C., 2010. Organic matter release by dominant hermatypic corals of the Northern Red Sea. Coral Reefs 29, 649–659. doi.org/10.1007/s00338-010-0612-7.
- Oliver, E.C.J., Donat, M.G., Burrows, M.T., Moore, P.J., Smale, D.A., Alexander, L. V., Benthuysen, J.A., Feng, M., Sen Gupta, A., Hobday, A.J., Holbrook, N.J., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S.E., Scannell, H.A., Straub, S.C., Wernberg, T., 2018. Longer and

more frequent marine heatwaves over the past century. Nat. Commun. 9, 1–12. doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03732-9.

- Palardy, J.E., Grottoli, A.G., Matthews, K.A., 2006. Effect of naturally changing zooplankton concentrations on feeding rates of two coral species in the Eastern Pacific. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 331(1), 99-107. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2005.10.001.
- Palmer, C.V., Modi, C.K., Mydlarz, L.D., 2009. Coral fluorescent proteins as antioxidants. PLoS ONE. 4 e7298. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007298.
- Picciano, M., Ferrier-Pagès, C., 2007. Ingestion of pico- and nanoplankton by the Mediterranean red coral *Corallium rubrum* Mar. Biol. 150(5), 773-782. doi: 10.1007/s00227-006-0415-0.
- Porter, K.G., Feig, Y.S., 1980. The use of DAPI for identifying aquatic microfloral. Limnol. Oceanogr. 25(5), 943-948. doi: 10.4319/lo.1980.25.5.0943.
- Prouty, N.G., Goodkin, N.F., Jones, R., Lamborg, C.H., Storlazzi, C.D., Hughen, K.A., 2013. Environmental assessment of metal exposure to corals living in Castle Harbour, Bermuda. Mar. Chem. 154, 55–66. doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2013.05.002.
- Ribes, M., Coma, R., Gili, J.M., 1998. Heterotrophic feeding by gorgonian corals with symbiotic zooxanthella. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43(6), 1170-1179. doi: 10.4319/lo.1998.43.6.1170.
- Richardson, T.L., Jackson, G.A., 2007. Small Phytoplankton and Carbon Export from the Surface Ocean. Science. 315, 838-840. doi: 10.1126/science.1133471.

- Rodrigues, L.J., Grottoli, A.G., 2007. Energy reserves and metabolism as indicators of coral recovery from bleaching. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52(5), 1874-1882. doi: 10.4319/lo.2007.52.5.1874.
- Rodrigues, L.J., Grottoli, A.G., 2006. Calcification rate and the stable carbon, oxygen, and nitrogen isotopes in the skeleton, host tissue, and zooxanthellae of bleached and recovering Hawaiian corals. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta. 70(11), 2781-2789. doi: 10.1016/j.gca.2006.02.014.
- Sangsawang, L., Casareto, B.E., Ohba, H., Vu, H.M., Meekaew. A., Suzuki, T., 2017. ¹³C and ¹⁵N assimilation and organic matter translocation by the endolithic community in the massive coral *Porites lutea*. R. Soc. open Sci. 4(12), 171201. doi: 10.1098/rsos.171201.
- Schlöder, C., D'Croz, L., 2004. Responses of massive and branching coral species to the combined effects of water temperature and nitrate enrichment. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 313, 255–268. doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2004.08.012.
- Schoepf, V., Grottoli, A.G., Levas, S.J., Baumann, J.H., Aschaffenburg, D., Baumann, J.H., et al., 2015. Annual coral bleaching and the long-term recovery capacity of coral. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282(1819), 20151887. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.1887.
- Sebens, K.P., Vandersall, K.S., Savina, L.A., Graham, K.R., 1996. Zooplankton capture by two scleractinian corals, Madracismirabilis and Montastreacavernosa, in a field enclosure. Mar. Biol. 127, 303–317.

Seibt, C., Schlichter, D., 2001. Compatible intracellular ion composition of the host

improves carbon assimilation by zooxanthellae in mutualistic symbioses. Naturwissenschaften, 88, 382-386. doi: 10.1007/s001140100240.

- Shinomura, Y., Iwata, T., Suzuki, Y., 2005. Diel changes in dissolved organic carbon in the upper layer of Suruga Bay, Japan. Estuar. Coast. Shelf. Sci. 62(4), 699-709. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2004.10.006.
- Sorokin, Y.I., 1973. On the feeding of some scleractinian coral with bacteria and dissolved organic matter. Limnol. Oceanogr. 18(3), 3800-385. doi: 10.4319/lo.1973.18.3.0380.
- Suescún-Bolívar, L.P., Traverse, G.M.I., Thomé, P.E., 2016. Glycerol outflow in Symbiodinium under osmotic and nitrogen stress. Mar. Biol. 163, 1–12. doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-2899-6.
- Sun, J., Liu, D., 2003. Geometric models for calculating cell biovolume and surface area for phytoplankton. J. Plankton Res. 25(11), 1331-1346. doi: 10.1093/plankt/fbg096.
- Suzuki, T., Casareto, B.E., Shioi, Y., Ishikawa, Y., Suzuki, Y., 2015. Finding of 13², 17³-cyclopheophorbide a enol as a degradation product of chlorophyll in shrunk zooxanthellae of the coral *Montipora digitata*. J. Phycol. 51(1), 37-45. doi: 10.1111/jpy.12253.
- Suzuki, Y., Tanoue, E., Ito, H., 1992. A high-temperature catalytic oxidation method for the determination of dissolved organic carbon in seawater: analysis and improvement. Deep. Sea. Res. 39(2), 185-198. doi: 10.1016/0198-0149(92)90104-2.

- Tada, K., Saki, K., Nakano, Y., Takemura, A., Montani, S., 2003. Size-fractionated phytoplankton biomass in coral reef waters off Sesoko Island. 25(8), 991-997.
- Thompson, J.R., Rivera, H.E., Closek, C.J., Medina. M., 2015. Microbes in the coral holobiont: partners through evolution, development, and ecological interactions. Front. Cell. Infect. Mi. 4(1), 1-20. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00176.
- Titlyanov, E.A., Titlyanova, T.V., Yamazato, K., Van Woesik, R., 2001, Photoacclimation of the hermatypic coral *Stylophora pistillata* while subjected to either starvation or food provisioning. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 257, 163-181. doi.org/10.1007/s00338-013-1100-7.
- Tremblay, P., Gori, A., Maguer, J.F., Hoogenboom, M., Ferrier-Pagès, C., 2016.
 Heterotrophy promotes the re-establishment of photosynthate translocation in a symbiotic coral after heat stress. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–14. doi.org/10.1038/srep38112.
- Tremblay, P. Grover, R., Maguer, J.F., Hoogenboom, M., Ferrier-Pagès, C., 2014. Carbon translocation from symbiont to host depends on irradiance and food availability in the tropical coral Stylophora pistillata. Coral Reefs. 33(1), 1-13. doi: 10.1007/s00338-013-1100-7.
- Tremblay, P., Naumann, M.S., Sikorski, S., Grover, R., Ferrier-Pagès, C., 2012.
 Experimental assessment of organic carbon fluxes in the scleractinian coral *Stylophora pistillata* during a thermal and photo stress event. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 453, 63-77. doi: 10.3354/meps09640.
- Tremblay, P., Peirano, A., Ferrier-Pagés, C., 2011. Heterotrophy in the Mediterranean symbiotic coral *Cladocora caespitosa*: Comparison with two other scleractinian

species. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 422, 165-177. doi: 10.3354/meps08902.

- Wang, Y.P., Tew, K.S., Kuo, J., Ko, F.C., Meng, P.J., 2012. The effect of coral polyp sizes and coral exudates on picoeukaryote dynamics in a controlled environment. Sci. Mar. 76(3) 455–461. doi: 10.3989/scimar.03405.02A.
- Wild, C., Huettel, M., Klueter, A., Kremb, S.G., Rasheed, M.Y.M., Jørgensen, B.B., 2004. Coral mucus functions as an energy carrier and particle trap in the reef ecosystem. Nature. 428(6978), 66-70. doi: 10.1038/nature02344.
- Wooldridge, S.A., 2014. Formalising a mechanistic linkage between heterotrophic feeding and thermal bleaching resistance. Coral Reefs, 33(4), 1131-1136. doi: 10.1007/s00338-014-1193-7.
- Wooldridge, S.A., 2009. A new conceptual model for the enhanced release of mucus in symbiotic reef corals during "bleaching" conditions. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 396,145-152. doi: 10.3354/meps08310.
- Worden, A.Z., Nolan, J.K. Palenik, B., 2004. Assessing the dynamic and ecology of marine picoplankton : the importance of eukaryotic component. Limnol. Oceano. 49(1), 168-179.

Supplementary Table 1. sea surface temperature at Sesoko Island during corals sampling for feeding experiments on 21 September 2017.

Time	°C	time	°C
0:00	28.417	12:00*	30.016
0:30	28.407	12:30*	30.407
1:00	28.329	13:00*	31.078
1:30	28.247	13:30*	31.757
2:00	28.186	14:00*	32.328
2:30	28.112	14:30*	32.691
3:00	27.903	15:00*	33.043
3:30	27.905	15:30*	33.331
4:00	27.862	16:00*	32.659
4:30	27.693	16:30	32.892
5:00	28.037	17:00	32.799
5:30	28.144	17:30	32.418
6:00	28.308	18:00	30.181
6:30	28.283	18:30	29.869
7:00	28.271	19:00	29.4
7:30	28.155	19:30	28.904
8:00	28.166	20:00	28.75
8:30	28.371	20:30	28.782
9:00	28.455	21:00	28.797
9:30	28.593	21:30	28.633
10:00	28.719	22:00	28.692
10:30	28.836	22:30	28.715
11:00	29.037	23:00	28.589
11:30	29.456	23:30	28.544

Appendix II

Supplementary Table 2. Growth rate per hour of pico and nanoplankton after 6h incubation. (mean±SE, n=3 for each

incubation conditions) BA=bacteria, PCY=pico-cyanobacteria, PF=picoflagellates, NF= nanoflagellates

Growth rate	27°C					33°C			
	Healthy		Bleached		Неа	Healthy		Bleached	
	Control	Coral	Control	Coral	Control	Coral	Control	Coral	
M. digitata									
BA	-0.06±0.03	-0.09±0.01	-0.06±0.02	0.07 ± 0.00	0.06±0.01	-0.01±0.001	-0.07±0.01	-0.07 ± 0.002	
PCY	-0.04±0.02	-0.09±0.01	0.19±0.01	0.32±0.01	0.17±0.02	0.21±0.02	0.38±0.01	0.22±0.02	
PF	0.04 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.001	0.16±0.02	0.12±0.002	0.03±0.01	0.08±0.003	0.06±0.02	0.10 ± 0.002	
NF	0.05 ± 0.01	0.01±0.02	-0.03±0.01	-0.08±0.00	-0.05±0.03	-0.07 ± 0.06	-0.11±0.01	-0.05±0.01	
P. lutea									
BA	-0.06 ± 0.02	-0.10±0.01	-0.12±0.04	-0.11±0.01	-0.05±0.01	-0.09 ± 0.02	-0.12±0.06	-0.10±0.01	
PCY	-0.18±0.09	-0.21±0.03	0.05 ± 0.03	-0.06 ± 0.05	0.08 ± 0.01	-0.05 ± 0.001	-0.21±0.06	-0.22±0.05	
PF	0.04±0.03	0.06±0.01	-0.13±0.02	-0.16±0.001	-0.03±0.001	-0.05 ± 0.001	-0.16±0.07	-0.04±0.001	
NF	-0.03±0.001	-0.04±0.01	-0.15±0.06	-0.15±0.06	-0.19±0.02	-0.22±0.01	-0.15±0.06	-0.19±0.04	
Appendix III

Supplementary Table 3. Feeding rate expressed in number of cells per polyp per hour after 6h incubation of *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* at normal (27°C), high (33°C) seawater temperature on healthy or bleached according to groups of pico– and nanoplankton. (mean \pm SE, n=3) BA=bacteria, PCY=pico-cyanobacteria, PF=picoflagellates, NF= nanoflagellates.

Feeding rote	27°C		33°C	
Feeding rate —	Healthy	Bleached	Healthy	Bleached
Cells polyp ⁻¹ h ⁻¹				
M. digitata				
BA	56.23±20.89	175.24±0.06	161.88±31.18	14.92±10.56
РСҮ	99.95±22.99	-62.08±11.35	-19.91±1.11	6.87±0.001
PF	4.38±2.51	-9.06±0.61	-11.80±3.22	-8.61±1.78
NF	127.22±0.02	124.56±13.63	164.59±3.23	41.48±14.30
P. lutea				
BA	87.58±12.03	-24.10±32.90	61.38±6.77	-71.83±32.41
РСҮ	24.21±24.21	151.95±2.70	187.37±0.00	127.33±3.80
PF	8.14±0.66	65.64±4.40	53.87±4.24	58.99±13.35
NF	28.84±0.001	99.78±4.86	83.73±32.19	-0.65±77.24

Appendix IV

Supplementary Table 4. Feeding rate expressed in number of **cells per cm² per hour** after 6h incubation of *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* at normal (27°C), high (33°C) seawater temperature on healthy or bleached according to groups of pico– and nanoplankton. (mean \pm SE, n=3) BA=bacteria, PCY=pico-cyanobacteria, PF=picoflagellates, NF= nanoflagellates.

Feeding rate –	27°C		33°C	
	Healthy	Bleached	Healthy	Bleached
M. digitata				
BA	$3.56 \pm 1.32 \times 10^3$	11.09±0.001 x10 ³	$10.25 \pm 1.97 \text{ x} 10^3$	$0.94\pm0.66 \text{ x}10^3$
РСҮ	$6.33 \pm 1.45 \text{ x} 10^3$	-3.93±0.71 x10 ³	-1.26±0.07 x10 ³	$0.43 \pm 0.002 \text{ x} 10^3$
PF	$0.27 \pm 0.15 \text{ x} 10^3$	$-0.57\pm0.03 \text{ x}10^3$	$-0.74\pm0.20 \text{ x}10^3$	$-0.54\pm0.11 \text{ x}10^3$
NF	$8.05 \pm 0.00 \ x 10^3$	$7.88 \pm 0.86 \text{ x} 10^3$	$10.42 \pm 0.20 \text{ x} 10^3$	$2.62\pm0.90 \text{ x}10^3$
P. lutea				
BA	$4.29 \pm 0.001 \text{ x} 10^3$	$5.97 \pm 5.54 \text{ x} 10^3$	$3.01\pm0.33 \text{ x}10^3$	$-3.52\pm1.59 \text{ x}10^3$
РСҮ	$1.18 \pm 1.18 \text{ x} 10^3$	$7.45\pm0.13 \text{ x}10^3$	$9.19 \pm 0.002 \text{ x} 10^3$	$6.25 \pm 0.18 \text{ x} 10^3$
PF	$0.39 \pm 0.03 \text{ x} 10^3$	3.22±0.21 x10 ³	$2.64 \pm 0.20 \text{ x} 10^3$	$2.89\pm0.65 \text{ x}10^3$
NF	$1.41\pm0.00 \text{ x}10^3$	$4.89\pm0.23 \text{ x}10^3$	4.11±1.58 x10 ³	$-0.03\pm1.69 \text{ x}10^3$

Appendix V

Supplementary Table 5. Feeding rate expressed **ng C per polyp per hour** after 6h incubation of *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* at normal (27°C), high (33°C) seawater temperature on healthy or bleached according to groups of pico– and nanoplankton. (mean±SE, n=3) BA=bacteria, PCY=pico-cyanobacteria, PF=picoflagellates, NF= nanoflagellates.

Feeding rate –	27°C		33°C	
	Healthy	Bleached	Healthy	Bleached
M. digitata				
BA	0.001 ± 0.0001	0.004 ± 0.001	0.002±0.0001	0.000 ± 0.00002
РСҮ	0.018 ± 0.0001	-0.011 ± 0.00001	-0.004±0.0003	0.001±0.0001
PF	0.005 ± 0.0002	-0.011 ± 0.00002	-0.014 ± 0.00004	-0.010±0.00002
NF	0.196±0.24	0.361±0.03	0.560 ± 0.01	0.183±0.09
P. lutea				
BA	0.002 ± 0.00002	0.003 ± 0.002	0.002 ± 0.001	-0.002 ± 0.001
РСҮ	0.004 ± 0.004	0.028 ± 0.0002	0.034±0.00001	0.023±0.001
PF	0.009 ± 0.002	0.079 ± 0.005	0.065 ± 0.005	0.071±0.016
NF	0.098±0.00001	0.339±0.017	0.285±0.010	-0.002±0.117

Appendix VI

Supplementary Table 6. Feeding rate expressed ng C per cm² per hour after 6h incubation of *M. digitata* and *P. lutea* at normal (27°C), high (33°C) seawater temperature on healthy or bleached according to groups of pico– and nanoplankton. (mean \pm SE, n=3) BA=bacteria, PCY=pico-cyanobacteria, PF=picoflagellates, NF= nanoflagellates.

Feeding rate –	27°C		33°C	
	Healthy	Bleached	Healthy	Bleached
M. digitata				
BA	0.08±0.03	0.24 ± 0.00001	0.23±0.04	0.02 ± 0.01
РСҮ	1.16±0.27	-0.44±0.15	-0.23±0.01	0.08 ± 0.0002
PF	0.03±0.19	-0.69 ± 0.04	-0.90±0.24	-0.65±0.14
NF	12.61±15.18	27.22±1.93	35.97±0.71	14.90±2.71
P. lutea				
BA	0.09±0.01	0.07 ± 0.01	0.13±0.12	-0.08±0.03
PCY	0.22±0.22	1.68 ± 0.0001	1.37±0.02	1.14 ± 0.03
PF	0.48 ± 0.04	3.17±0.25	3.87±0.26	3.47±0.79
NF	4.88±0.0002	14.18±5.45	16.90±0.82	-0.11±5.85